
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Victoria Wallace 03450 450 500 

 
 
 
 
 
 

25 June 2014 
 
To: Chairman – Councillor Roger Hickford 
 Vice-Chairman – Councillor Jose Hales 
 Members of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee – Councillors David Bard, 

Alison Elcox, Lynda Harford, Philippa Hart, Douglas de Lacey, David Morgan and 
Bunty Waters 

Quorum: 5 
 

 
There is a pre-meeting session at 5pm for members of the Committee only, to plan their 

lines of enquiry. 
 

 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW COMMITTEE, which 
will be held in the SWANSLEY ROOM, GROUND FLOOR on THURSDAY, 3 JULY 2014 at 
6.00 p.m. 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, subcommittees, and 
outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of the substitution in advance of 
the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute once the meeting has started.  Council 
Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
JEAN HUNTER 
Chief Executive 
 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the 
community, access to its agendas and minutes.  If you have any 
specific needs, please let us know, and we will do what we can to 

help you. 
 
 

AGENDA 
PAGES 

1. Apologies    
 To receive apologies for absence from committee members.   
   
2. Declarations of Interest    
 To receive any declarations of interest for items on this agenda.  
   
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting   1 - 6 
 To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 3 

April 2014 as a correct record. 
 

   

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 
Cambourne Business Park 
Cambourne 
Cambridge 
CB23 6EA 
t: 03450 450 500 
f: 01954 713149 
dx: DX 729500 Cambridge 15 
minicom: 01480 376743 
www.scambs.gov.uk 



4. Public Questions    
 To note that no public questions have been received.  
   
5. 2013-2014 Year End Position Statement on Finance and 

Performance  
 7 - 50 

 The 2013-14 Year End position statement on finance performance is 
attached. This item will be considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 10 
July 2014. 

 

   
6. City Deal update    
 The Executive Director (Corporate Services) will be in attendance to 

provide a verbal update on the Greater Cambridge City Deal. 
 

   
7. Orchard Park - review of achievements and lessons learned   51 - 78 
 To consider undertaking a review of the achievements and lessons 

learned from the Orchard Park Scrutiny Task and Finish Group, which 
commenced its review in 2007.   
 
A copy of a report entitled ‘progress since the Task and Finish Group 
Review’ which was submitted to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee on 
5 November 2009 is attached for information. 

 

   
8. Work Programme 2014/15   79 - 96 
 To enable the Committee to consider its Work Programme for future 

meetings. 
 

   
9. Appointment of Scrutiny Monitors and Monitoring the Executive   97 - 98 
 (a) The Committee is required to appoint monitors to each Cabinet 

Portfolio, which are attached for information. 
 

(b) Scrutiny monitors are invited to report to the Committee regarding 
Portfolio Holder meetings attended since the last meeting and 
specifically raise any issues challenged and the result and/or 
issues where the Committee could add further value. 

 

   
10. To Note the Dates of Future Meetings    
 Future meetings are scheduled to be held on the following dates: 

• Thursday 4 September 2014, 6pm 
• Thursday 6 November 2014, 6pm 
• Thursday 8 January 2015, 6pm 
• Tuesday 10 February 2015, 6pm 
• Thursday 26 March 2015, 6pm 
• Thursday 30 April 2015, 6pm 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 Exclusion of Press and Public 
 The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without 
members of the Press and public being present.  Typically, such issues relate to 
personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege and so on.  In every 
case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must 
outweigh the public interest in having the information disclosed to them.  The following 
statement will be proposed, seconded and voted upon.   
 
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the 
consideration of the following item number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) 
(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if present, there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.” 
 
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press 
and public will not be able to view it.  There will be an explanation on the website 
however as to why the information is exempt.   
   

 
OUR LONG-TERM VISION 

 
South Cambridgeshire will continue to be the best place to live, work and study in the country. 
Our district will demonstrate impressive and sustainable economic growth. Our residents will 
have a superb quality of life in an exceptionally beautiful, rural and green environment. 
 
The Council will be recognised as consistently innovative and a high performer with a track 
record of delivering value for money by focusing on the priorities, needs and aspirations of our 
residents, parishes and businesses. 
 

OUR VALUES 
 

We will demonstrate our corporate values in all our actions. These are: 
• Trust 
• Mutual respect 
• A commitment to improving services 
• Customer service 

 
  



 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices  
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 
When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

• Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 
emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

• Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 
do so. 

 
First Aid 
If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 
We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 
We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 
You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 
Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 
Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 
 



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee held on 
Thursday, 3 April 2014 at 6.00 p.m. 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Roger Hickford – Chairman 
  Councillor Sue Ellington – Vice-Chairman 
 
Councillors: David Bard Alison Elcox 
 Jose Hales Lynda Harford 
 Bridget Smith Bunty Waters 
 Kevin Cuffley  
 
Councillors Ray Manning and Nick Wright were in attendance, by invitation. 
 
Officers: Alex Colyer Executive Director, Corporate Services 
 James Fisher S106 Officer 
 Graham Hughes Cambridge City Council 
 Jean Hunter Chief Executive 
 Jo Mills Planning and New Communities Director 
 Stephen Reid Senior Planning Lawyer 
 Victoria Wallace Democratic Services Officer 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Douglas de Lacey. 
 
54. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 No declarations of interest were made. 
  
55. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 11 February 2014 were AGREED as a correct 

record. 
  
56. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
 No public questions had been received. 
  
57. GREATER CAMBRIDGE CITY DEAL - GOVERNMENT OFFER 
 
 The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ray Manning presented the Greater Cambridge 

City Deal report. The Executive Director (Corporate Services) Alex Colyer and Graham 
Hughes from Cambridge City Council, were also in attendance for this item. The Leader 
of the Council updated Members following a round table discussion regarding the City 
Deal with the Deputy Prime Minister, which had taken place earlier in the day.  
 
Governance was discussed: 
• Members were informed that South Cambridgeshire District Council and 

Cambridge City Council would form a ‘combined authority’ to enable unified 
decision making regarding the City Deal.  

• The Executive Director informed Members that a change in legislation by 
Government was required to create this ‘combined authority’, for the County 
Council’s powers to be devolved for the geographical areas covered by South 
Cambridgeshire District Council and the City Council. This would take 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Scrutiny and Overview Committee  Thursday, 3 April 2014 

approximately one year. 
• Until the combined authority was established, a joint committee would be formed 

to take forward the work on the City Deal and agree on projects in which the 
funding would be invested.  

• Concern was raised over the political balance of the Executive Board, formed of 
three members of each authority alongside representatives from the LEP and 
University. Being a partnership, it was assumed that decisions would be reached 
by consensus. A Memorandum of Understanding would support the Executive 
Board’s work. 

• The 12 person ‘Assembly’ formed of three members of each authority, would 
have a scrutiny type function, holding the Executive Board to account as well as 
offering advice, and would represent the political balance of each authority.  

• The aim was for the ‘Assembly’ to be formed by April 2015 and the combined 
authority to be operational by April 2016.  
 

Further discussion ensued: 
• Concern was raised over housing completion targets potentially being triggers for 

further funding, as housing supply was outside the Council’s control. Members 
were assured that these targets would not hinder delivery of the funding and that 
all elements of the first funding ‘trigger’ were considered to be measureable and 
achievable. 

• Members were informed that there may be the potential for the City Deal period 
to be extended by five years. 

• It was highlighted to Members that the City Deal funding was new money and 
that other grants for infrastructure would still be available.  

• Members were informed that the Government believed that their £500 million 
City Deal investment would bring a further £500 million of investment to the area 
from other sources. 

• Members were informed that there were no targets in terms of carbon footprint 
and that key radial routes (A10 north and south, A428 and A1307 amongst other 
key routes) would receive significant improvements in terms of public transport, 
enabling easier access to Cambridge. The focus was likely to first be on public 
transport, with the aim to ensure access to Cambridge from the surrounding 
areas was effective and joined up. It was believed that this would attract both 
employers and workers to Cambridge. 

• Concern was raised that a certain element of the workforce was being driven out 
of Cambridge due to high property prices. Members were informed that between 
the County Council and Cambridge University, who were both major land 
owners, it may be possible to find some exception sites for affordable housing. 

• The transparency of the decision making process was queried. Members were 
informed that Full Council agreement would be needed from all councils before 
anything could be decided. Members were informed that there was still much 
work to be done in forming the governance structures and that the Leaders 
representing each of the three councils would need to be mandated. The 
expectation was that meetings would be held in public. 

• The Scrutiny and Overview Committee Chairman proposed a joint scrutiny 
working party was formed, consisting of members of the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee, Partnerships Review Committee and Corporate Governance 
Committee, to monitor the Greater Cambridge City Deal and report back to 
Members. The Scrutiny and Overview Committee AGREED that this should be 
investigated further and brought back to the next meeting for further discussion. 

 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee NOTED the report and SUPPORTED the 
principles of the Greater Cambridge City Deal. 

Page 2



Scrutiny and Overview Committee  Thursday, 3 April 2014 

  
58. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) INFRASTRUCTURE LIST 
 
 Councillor Nick Wright, Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economic Development, 

presented the report regarding the draft Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Infrastructure List.  
 
The Section 106 Officer clarified that under the regulations, infrastructure items that 
appeared on the Draft Regulation 123 list could not, in addition, be funded through 
section 106 contributions. Exempting items from the Regulation 123 list would mean that 
funding contributions could be secured via s106 agreements. 
 
Members were informed that the Draft Regulation 123 list outlined in the report would be 
subject to a six week public consultation and parish councils would be encouraged to 
propose any items of particular and significant importance to them, such that 
consideration could then be given as to whether it was suitable to add particular items to 
the Regulation 123 list.  
 
Concern was raised over the public consultation potentially bypassing some parish 
councils, particularly smaller ones. Members proposed that all parish councils were 
written to regarding the importance of their participation in the public consultation on the 
Drat 123 Infrastructure list. 
 
Members were informed that the Council did not want to restrict its ability to secure 
funding from other sources. Primary education was not included in the Draft Regulation 
123 list and as such, contributions could (subject to the ‘Rule of 5’) be secured from 
s106 payments, irrespective of the size of the development for which the primary 
education contributions would be. 
 
Following consultation on and finalisation of the Regulation 123 list, this list could be 
amended at any time. However any amendments would be subject to public 
consultation. It was proposed that once the Regulation 123 list was finalised, it would be 
reviewed after two years, but it could be reviewed sooner if circumstances warranted 
particular amendments.  
 
Members were apprehensive that CIL did not generate the same level of funding for 
parish councils as traditional s106 agreements. That was a particular concern to the 
Local Member for Sawston due to the large number of houses being proposed through 
the Local Plan. The Planning and New Communities Director suggested that the three 
Sawston developments could be treated in the same way as the strategic developments 
i.e exempt them entirely from CIL and secure all infrastructure through a section 106 
agreement. 
 
Neighbourhood Plans were discussed. Members were informed that parishes would 
receive a larger CIL contribution if they had a Neighbourhood Plan. The misconception 
of the purpose of Neighbourhood Plans by some parish councils was discussed, with 
some seeing such a plan as a means to preventing development within their parish 
when the purpose was to enhance development. Members of the committee advised 
that this needed to be communicated more clearly to parish councils. It was suggested 
that an invitation to find out more about Neighbourhood Plans should be put in the 
Parish Bulletin. 
 
Members were informed that feedback on CIL from other local authorities had been 
used to inform the Council’s own strategy and approach to CIL. Feedback had been 
used from Huntingdonshire District Council and developers in Huntingdonshire, where 

Page 3



Scrutiny and Overview Committee  Thursday, 3 April 2014 

CIL had been in place since 2012. This feedback helped inform the proposal being 
recommended, where strategic sites such as Northstowe were exempt from CIL. 
 
Officers were asked whether parish councils had a duty to cooperate with each other 
and were informed that they did not. Members proposed that this was looked at, to 
which officers agreed. 
 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee: 

 
(a) AGREED: 
• That communication to parish councils regarding CIL should be refined in 

order to avoid misconceptions and ensure they had the greatest 
opportunity/encouragement to respond fully to the consultation, and to ensure 
that parish councils could put forward specific infrastructure of strategic 
importance, as items they particularly wanted to see included as part of the 
Regulation 123 list. 

• That communication was needed with parish councils to clarify the purpose of 
Neighbourhood Plans and the benefits in terms of CIL contributions of having 
such a plan. 

• That Sawston developments should come under Section 106 rather than CIL 
and that this should be amended in the report to Cabinet. 

 
(b) NOTED the infrastructure items highlighted on the CIL Preliminary Draft Charging 
Schedule 
 
(c) RECOMMENDED the draft Regulation 123 infrastructure list to Cabinet. 

  
59. CONSERVATION SERVICE REVIEW 
 
 Councillor Nick Wright, Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economic Development, 

presented the report updating Members on the Conservation and Urban Design Service 
Review and highlighted some of the fundamental changes which have enabled a 
streamlining of the service.  
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee Chairman thanked officers for their prompt 
answers to queries submitted by Councillor de Lacey in advance of the meeting. 
 
Discussion ensued, with concern raised regarding the outsourcing of consultants: 
• The Director of Planning and New Communities clarified that the service was being 

kept in-house but while there were vacant posts in the service undergoing 
recruitment, consultants may be needed to cover the workload until a full 
complement of permanent in-house staff had been recruitment. Members were 
informed that whilst the service would be kept in-house, specialist external resources 
may be brought in to supplement the new in-house service at times of peak activity, 
in order to prevent over burdening of staff.  

• The Committee was informed that Essex Design consultants had been used to 
support the existing service for two weeks, while candidates were being interviewed 
for vacant posts.  

• Members were also informed that a consultant had been working with the Council for 
one year and a second interim consultant since October 2013. 
 

Members were informed that working with neighbouring local authorities would be 
piloted, but that the restructure of the service would be completed before considering a 
shared service with another authority. 
 

Page 4



Scrutiny and Overview Committee  Thursday, 3 April 2014 

The Committee sought assurance that the service was being restructured in order to 
create something completely new, consisting of posts with different job descriptions and 
remits. The Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economic Development assured the 
Committee that this was the case. 
 
Charging for a same day emergency service (£100 charge) and an initial view pre-
application service for listed building proposals (£350 charge), was discussed: 
• Concern was raised that members of the public may be reluctant to seek advice 

early on due to these charges.  
• The Portfolio Holder for Planning and Economic Development and the Director of 

Planning and New communities assured Members that positive feedback on these 
charges had been received from agents; the charges were considered very 
reasonable.  

• Feedback from other local authorities was that premium services which members of 
the public paid for had been working very well.  

 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee ENDORSED the measures to support 
implementation of the new Urban Design and Conservation Consultancy Team. 

  
60. SCRUTINY AND OVERVIEW ANNUAL REPORT 2013/14 
 
 The Chairman presented the draft Scrutiny and Overview Annual Report and informed 

Members that the Chairman’s Foreword would be added to the report before it went to 
Full Council. Members confirmed that they agreed with the contents of the report and 
had no comments to add. 

  
61. WORK PROGRAMME 2014 
 
 The report regarding the Scrutiny and Overview Committee’s Work Programme was 

presented. Members agreed with the contents of the scoping documents contained 
within the report regarding the areas for potential scrutiny and the proposed next steps.  

  
62. MONITORING THE EXECUTIVE 
 
 Councillor Bridget Smith provided a verbal update following the Planning and Economic 

Development Portfolio Holder’s meeting: 
• Ten vacant posts were being filled in the Planning Department. Some posts had 

been advertised with a market supplement, which could be applied for 12 months 
and then reviewed.  

• Heritage guardianships design had been discussed and resolved at the meeting. 
 
Councillor Alison Elcox informed Members that there had not been a Corporate and 
Customer Services Portfolio Holder’s meeting in the last year, and requested officers 
raise this with the Portfolio Holder. 

  
63. TO NOTE THE DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
 
 Members noted the next scheduled meeting date was Thursday 3 July 2014, at 6pm. 
  
  

The Meeting ended at 8.20 p.m. 
 

 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Cabinet 10 July 2014 

 
AUTHOR/S: Executive Director (Corporate Services) 

 
 

2013-14 YEAR-END POSITION STATEMENT ON FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE 
      

Purpose 
 
1. To provide Cabinet with: 

• a provisional 2013-14 outturn position statement on General Fund, Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) and Capital expenditure and requests for budget 
rollovers from 2013-14 to 2014-15; and 

• a statement on the 2013-14 year-end position with regard to the Council’s 
corporate objectives and performance indicators. 

Integrated reporting in this way gives Members the opportunity to examine any areas 
of concern and decide on the appropriate action. 
 
Recommendations 

 
2. Cabinet is requested to; 

• review the provisional 2013-14 outturn position statement, together with the 
performance information, determining, where appropriate, any actions required to 
address issues contained in this report;  

• approve the capital and revenue budget rollovers totalling £1,020,110, as listed in 
Appendix C, to be carried forward into the 2014-15 financial year. 

    
Reasons for Recommendations 
  

3. These recommendations enable Members to maintain a sound understanding of the 
authority’s financial position performance, contributing to the evidence base for the 
ongoing review of priorities and enabling, where appropriate, redirection of resources 
to address areas of concern and reflect emerging priorities.  
 

4. Rolling over the revenue and capital budgets requested will allow the re-phasing of 
specific expenditure on particular projects beyond the end of the 2013-14 financial 
year.  
 
Background 
 

5. This report provides updates in respect of: 
• the year-end provisional outturn position at 31 March 2014; 
• requests for budget rollovers from 2013-14 to 2014-15; 
• the Corporate Plan 2013-18, agreed by Council in February 2013; 
• key Performance Indicators, agreed by EMT in April 2013 (12-month 

performance). 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 7



Considerations  
 
Finance 
 

6. This position statement is reporting on the variance between the working budgets and 
the provisional outturn. Below is a summary of the provisional outturns and for 
comparison purposes the corresponding February 2014 projections reported to EMT: 

 
         Provisional 

 
Outturn 

February’s 
 Projected 
Outturn 

Movement 

Compared to 
 Working Estimate 

Compared to 
 Working Estimate 

Appendix A 
Adverse + / Favourable () 

£ % £ % £ 
 
General Fund (601,400) (3.75) (497,000) (3.10) (104,400) 
 
Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) 

    
(239,600) (0.88) 

    
(277,900) (1.03) 

            
38,300 

 
Capital (1,086,200) (7.25) (217,400) (1.44) (868,800) 

 
7. On General Fund, £96,000 is being requested to be rolled-over into 2014-15 giving a 

net true variance of (£505,400) (3.15%).  Similarly on capital, £924,110 is being 
asked to be rolled-over, giving a net true variance of (£162,090) (1.08%).  It should be 
noted that budget holders are actively trying to manage costs down, which leads to 
favourable variances, either in-year one-off, or that continue to have an ongoing 
effect in future years.  Services have continued to be delivered and performance 
maintained, as outlined later in this report. 
 

8. A summary position statement is provided at Appendix A. Significant items are listed 
in Appendix B.  Highlighted below are the main contributors (the paragraph letters 
refer to the particular line in Appendix A): 

 
General Fund 
 
a. An analysis of the Departmental Accounts compared to the working 

estimates indicates that vacancies and other in year changes to staffing 
budgets has resulted in savings of £218,100, after taking into account the use 
of agency staff to manage turnover and cover vacancies and allowing for the 
reduction of £500,000 for vacancies which was included in the estimates; 

 
Finance & Staffing 

 
b. Improving economic conditions have resulted in lower payments than 

anticipated to Benefits claimants.  With recovery of amounts previously paid, 
to which there was no entitlement, and other income, this has resulted in a 
£295,200 saving to the Council; 
 
Environmental Services 
 

e. The Refuse Collection & Recycling Service reduced staffing/fuel costs 
through managing staff numbers and flexible working and increased trade 
refuse income, resulting in savings against budget of £60,500.  The expected 

Page 8



procurement of in-cab technology to facilitate round optimisation will now take 
place in 2014-15, for which a roll-over request of £58,700 has been submitted; 
 
Planning and Economic Development 
 

j. Planning Income is £746,800 more than originally estimated because of a 
number of large fees relating to planning permission for solar panels 
developments.  This was because of a legislation change on 1st April 2014, 
which meant that applications were submitted before this change came into 
effect;  

 
Unallocated 
 

l. The effect of the new Retained Non-Domestic Rates System, the operation 
of which was devolved to councils for the first time in 2013-14, has been 
£550,000 more than estimated, mainly because of refunds to ratepayers as 
agreed by the Valuation Officer relating to previous years; 

 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

 
p. General Administration: Payments to tenants for moving to enable re-

development were £191,700 less than estimated in year.  These re-
developments will occur in future years and budget provision will be allowed 
for in the relevant year; 
 

r. Additional Income of £207,300 has been received, because of a combination 
of better void turn-around and re-let properties rental amounts being higher; 

 
s. As Right to Buy Sales have been greater than anticipated this has meant that 

£1,378,000 of Capital expenditure has not had to be funded from Revenue; 
 

t. These have enabled £1,500,000 to be transferred to the Investment 
Reserve;  

 
       Capital 
 

u. The New Homes Programme is scheduled to take place over several years 
and continues to be developed.  The Linton scheme was completed in year, 
other schemes are being prepared and a further new scheme has been 
identified for 2014-15.  £742,100 was not required to be drawn down in 2013-
14 and has been requested to be rolled-over into 2014-15 to allocate towards 
these schemes; 
  

v. Some ICT projects were postponed due to awareness that the vendor is 
making changes to the product/service, making it more viable to defer and buy 
the updated version when available.  Delays in recruiting to some vacant 
posts, while providing an in year revenue saving, impacted on resources 
available to deliver some capital projects within previously anticipated 
timeframes.  The government delayed the need for us to provide upgrades to 
Cabinet Office requirements for PSN compliance.  As a result, work to the 
value of £142,000 is now expected to be undertaken in 2014-15 and has been 
requested to be rolled over; 

 
9. Appendix C details the rollover requests, which total £96,000 on General Fund 

revenue budgets and £924,110 on the Capital Programme.   

Page 9



Performance 
 

10. The Council has progressed key Actions within its Corporate Plan 2013-18. Detailed 
commentary on achievements against each action, bringing together relevant finance, 
performance and risk information, is set out in Appendix D attached. The appendix 
presents updates in terms of achievements to date and work still to do, reflecting a 
medium term plan delivery period. As such, several of the actions comprise major 
programmes and projects which are works in progress. Some key achievements 
during 2013-14 set out below (Council Action reference in brackets): 
• Agreed recommendations arising from Business Improvement and Efficiency 

Programme review of agency staff usage (A4) 
• Draft South Cambridgeshire Local Plan submitted to Secretary of State (A7) 
• Launched business register and business e-newsletter; held eight further 

business support workshops, attended by 75 people (B2) 
• Deputy Prime Minister signed Memorandum of Understanding to progress City 

Deal (B5) 
• Purchase of further market homes to use as temporary accommodation (A6, 

B8) 
• New Council houses at Chalklands, Linton, completed and occupied, part of 

the biggest building programme since the 1950s (B9) 
• Successful Park Life event attended by over 5,000 people (C7) 

 
11. The Council monitors a suite of key performance indicators to assist in maintaining a 

strategic overview of organisational health. Performance information against the full 
suite of key indicators is set out in Appendix E attached. During 2013-14, SCDC has 
performed strongly, meeting and surpassing targets for: 
• Rent collection (98.8%) 
• Council Tax collection (99.25%) 
• Benefits processing (average 12 days) 
• Customer Contact Service first time call resolution (82.3%) 
• Determining ‘Other’ (householder) planning applications (80% within eight-

week target) 
• Helping households avoid homelessness (147) 
• Reducing staff sickness absence (7.42 days per employee) 
• Missed bins per 100,000 (43.4) 
• Number of affordable homes delivered (increased from 101 to 158) 
• Average days to re-let General Needs housing (reduced from 25 to 16 days) 

 
12. Performance was below target and intervention levels in respect of the following 

items: 
 

13. Staff Turnover (12.47% against 7% target): Staff turnover rates have been well 
below industry averages in recent years, the national economic difficulties are likely to 
have been a contributory factor in this, along with temporary external recruitment 
freezes.  A number of voluntary leavers are employees who have reached normal 
retirement or are able to access their pension early under pension scheme rules. 
Forthcoming changes to the pension scheme (LGPS) in 2014 have resulted in eligible 
staff considering their retirement options. Analysis of feedback from leavers’ forms 
and exit interviews suggests that staff are also leaving to take up positions in the 
private sector as more private sector jobs are created.  
 

14. The impacts of the job evaluation exercise on staff turnover have also been taken into 
account, in anticipation of the pay protection period, which ended on 31 March 2014 
for staff facing salary cuts. These impacts were reported to the Finance and Staffing 

Page 10



Portfolio Holder during the year, including a package of support measures tailored to 
the needs of the individuals affected. The impact of higher turnover on service area 
capacity is considered by EMT as a corporate risk, with appropriate measures 
identified to mitigate impacts on service delivery. It is difficult to pinpoint a best 
practice staff turnover target: voluntary turnover should be neither too high as to 
effect negatively the running of the business nor too low to prevent career 
development and innovation. It is considered that the target of 10% agreed for 2014-
15 best achieves this balance. 
 

15. Households in Temporary Accommodation – This figure includes all temporary 
accommodation including units within our own housing stock, hostel accommodation 
and B&B.  The target set was the same as the end of year figure for 2012-13 with the 
aim of maintaining current levels, whilst knowing this would be challenging in the 
current climate.  Unfortunately the number of households in temporary 
accommodation has risen during the year, with 11 more households in temporary 
accommodation at the end of 2013-14 (53, compared to 42 at the end of 2012-13).  
However, when compared with the increasing numbers accepted as homeless, where 
the increase has been much larger (127 accepted in 2013-14 compared to 102 in 
2012-13 – showing an increase of 25 households), the team have worked hard to 
minimise the use of temporary accommodation wherever possible.  A corporate target 
was also set to increase the provision of temporary accommodation in order to 
reduce the use of B&B and reduce expenditure by half – this was met and in fact 
expenditure on this type of temporary accommodation is approx. a quarter of that 
spent in the previous year. 
 

16. % of Household waste for reuse, recycling and composting (56.7% against 60% 
target) - The prolonged wet Winter adversely affected the ability of Cambridgeshire 
County Council to compost green waste materials, resulting in lower green waste 
diversion rates, similar to the situation which occurred during 2012-13. Longer term 
options are being explored with RECAP1 partners as part of the Optimum Service 
Design project work. Performance remained within expected levels and exceeded the 
2012-13 figure of 55.86%, comparable with RECAP partners. In addition, based on 
the latest available benchmarking data produced by the Rural Services Network, 
SCDC remains within the top 20 performing districts in England.  
 
Implications 
 

17. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, the following implications have been considered:  
 
Financial 

18. The Council needs to ensure that it spends within its budgets, because of the impact 
on the level of balances and the implication for the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 
Consultation responses 
 

19. Corporate Plan aims and actions, and the allocation of resources to deliver them, 
were based on assessed needs and priorities and were subject to consultation prior 
to adoption.  

 

                                                
1 RECAP stands for Recycling in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

Page 11



20. The comments of cost centre managers and directors have been reflected in the 
provisional outturn statement. Corporate Plan and Performance Indicator updates 
have been prepared in liaison with lead officers in each directorate.  
 
Effect on Strategic Aims 
 

21. Review of the Council’s finances and Corporate Plan is important to ensure the 
Council’s priorities are met and resourced. 

 
 

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:   Original Estimates 2013/14, 

Financial Management System Reports 
Summary Place Profile  
Ongoing Corporate Projects  
New Corporate Projects database  

 
Contact Officers:      John Garnham – Head of Finance, Policy and Performance 

Telephone: (01954) 713101 
 
Richard May – Policy and Performance Manager 
Telephone: (01954) 713366 
 
Graham Smith – Management Accountant  
Telephone: (01954) 713077 

Page 12



APPENDIX  A

Previously Reported Original Working Actual Income Projected Movement
(Under)/ Estimate Estimate & Expenditure (Under)/ from Previous

Over Spend 2013/14 2013/14 Over Spend Month's
Compared to Compared to Position

Working Estimate Working Estimate
£ £ £ £ £ £

General Fund
Portfolio

(59,900) Leader 522,290 522,290 474,448 (47,800) 12,100 a
0 Finance & Staffing 2,414,210 2,394,250 2,099,098 (295,200) (295,200) b

(409,800) Corporate & Customer Services 1,763,130 1,902,620 1,567,603 (335,000) 74,800 a,c,d
(184,800) Environmental Services 5,753,670 5,762,470 5,618,881 (143,600) 41,200 a,e,f
(30,000) Housing (General Fund) 1,300,950 1,300,950 1,287,758 (13,200) 16,800 a,g,h

0 Northstowe 54,700 54,700 54,778 0 0
(725,000) Planning & Economic Development 2,445,890 2,460,400 1,732,868 (727,500) (2,500) a,I,j,k

(5,200) Planning Policy & Localism 1,852,590 1,957,090 1,833,574 (123,500) (118,300) a
Un-Allocated 0

487,700 Other 772,880 627,450 1,224,287 596,800 109,100 l
450,000 Savings (500,000) (500,000) 0 500,000 50,000 a

---------------------------- --------------------- --------------------- ------------------------ ------------------------------------------------
(477,000) Total 16,380,310 16,482,220 15,893,295 (589,000) (112,000)

================ ============ ============ ============= ===========================
(20,000) Interest on Balances (425,000) (425,000) (437,439) (12,400) 7,600 m

================ ============ ============ ============= ===========================
(497,000) Net District Council General Fund Expenditure 15,955,310 16,057,220 15,455,856 (601,400) (104,400)

================ ============ ============ ============= ===========================

P
age 13



Previously Reported Original Working Actual Income Projected Movement
(Under)/ Estimate Estimate & Expenditure (Under)/ from Previous

Over Spend 2013/14 2013/14 Over Spend Month's
Compared to Compared to Position

Working Estimate Working Estimate
£ £ £ £ £ £

Housing Revenue Account
0 Housing Repairs - Revenue 3,307,800 3,587,000 3,538,914 (48,100) (48,100) n

(20,000) Sheltered Housing (61,430) (61,430) (81,604) (20,200) (200) o
0 Repairs Administration 19,600 10,600 14,158 3,600 3,600

(100,000) General Administration 613,660 602,620 410,895 (191,700) (91,700) p
0 Other Alarm Systems (143,100) (143,100) (143,280) 0 0
0 Outdoor Maintenance 26,060 26,060 16,852 (9,200) (9,200)

(20,000) Tenant Participation 144,400 144,400 120,027 (24,400) (4,400) q
50,000 19,853,790 19,641,250 19,911,878 270,500 220,500 s,t

(140,000) Income (26,850,000) (26,900,000) (27,107,259) (207,300) (67,300) r
(47,900) Recharged Departmental & Overhead Accounts 3,263,700 3,267,080 3,254,278 (12,800) 35,100 a

================ ============ ============ ============ ===========================
(277,900) Housing Revenue Account Total 174,480 174,480 (65,141) (239,600) 38,300

================ ============ ============ ============ ===========================
Capital

Capital Expenditure
HRA Capital

0 New Homes Programme 3,000,000 3,000,000 2,257,890 (742,100) (742,100) u
(87,000) Repurchase of HRA Shared Ownership Homes 410,000 410,000 322,540 (87,400) (400)

0 Housing Repairs - Capital 7,724,180 7,535,000 7,385,547 0 0
(120,000) Other 374,820 217,000 78,423 (138,600) (18,600)

GF Capital
(60,000) ICT Development 366,200 433,760 291,771 (142,000) (82,000) v

0 Waste Collection & Street Cleansing 331,000 447,700 301,888 0 0
50,000 Repurchase of GF Sheltered Properties 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,144,878 44,900 (5,100) w

0 Improvement Grants 770,000 781,130 774,914 (6,200) (6,200)
0 Other 783,600 816,100 329,232 (20,200) (20,200) x

(400) Recharged Departmental & Overhead Accounts 45,160 45,160 50,597 5,400 5,800 a
============== ============ ============ ============ ===========================

(217,400) Capital Expenditure Total 14,904,960 14,785,850 12,937,680 (1,086,200) (868,800)
============== ============ ============ ============ ===========================

Capital Receipts
(900,000) Right to Buy Sales (1,624,480) (1,624,480) (3,449,379) (1,824,900) (924,900)

100,000 HRA Equity Share & Other Sales (200,000) (200,000) 0 200,000 100,000
0 GF Equity Share & Other Sales (1,641,260) (1,641,260) (1,570,030) 71,200 71,200
0 Other Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0 0

314,400 Other Grants & Allowances (11,226,490) (11,186,350) (10,159,615) 264,700 (49,700)
(700) Recharged Departmental & Overhead Accounts 65,740 65,740 51,919 (13,800) (13,100) a

============== ============ ============ ============ ============== ===========
(486,300) Capital Receipts Total (14,626,490) (14,586,350) (15,127,105) (1,302,800) (816,500)

============== ============ ============ ============ ============== ===========

Other (including Payment to Government & Capital Charges)

P
age 14



APPENDIX B 
 
Significant items of movement shown in the 2013-14 Provisional Outturn Statement 
 
 
 
General Fund 

 
a. An analysis of the Departmental Accounts compared to the working estimates 

indicates that vacancies and other in year changes to staffing budgets has resulted in 
savings of £218,100, after taking into account the use of agency staff to manage 
turnover and cover vacancies and allowing for the reduction of £500,000 for vacancies 
which was included in the estimates; 

 
Finance & Staffing 
 

b. Improving economic conditions have resulted in lower payments than anticipated to 
Benefits claimants.  With recovery of amounts previously paid, to which there was no 
entitlement, and other income, this has resulted in a £295,200 saving to the Council; 

  
Corporate & Customer Services 

 
c. Rental income from external users of the Cambourne Offices is £36,000 more than 

allowed for in the original estimates; 
 
d. The Council has been able to reclaim £54,000 more Elections expenses than 

originally expected;  
 
Environmental Services 

 
e. The Refuse Collection & Recycling Service reduced staffing/fuel costs through 

managing staff numbers and flexible working and increased trade refuse income, 
resulting in savings against budget of £60,500.  The expected procurement of in-cab 
technology to facilitate round optimisation will now take place in 2014-15, for which a 
roll-over request of £58,700 has been submitted; 

 
f. The Pest Control service is now not being provided which has led to winding up costs 

of £34,900.  
 

Housing General Fund 
 

g. Expenditure on Improvement Grants is £25,000 more than budgeted mainly because 
of an under-estimate provided by an outside organisation for an outstanding invoice 
relating to 2012-13; 

 
h. A change to the private rental scheme resulted in a Housing Association returning 

£29,100 to us against the Homelessness budget; 
  

Planning and Economic Development 
 

i. The Council incurred unforeseen expenditure of £38,700 in settlement of a claim for 
compensation related to a tree preservation order; 

 
j. Planning Income is £746,800 more than originally estimated because of a number of 

large fees relating to planning permission for solar panels developments.  This was 

Page 15



because of a legislation change on 1st April 2014, which meant that applications were 
submitted before this change came into effect;  

 
k. Additional costs of £23,200 have been incurred in dealing with overgrown trees at the 

Open Space in Teversham; 
 

Unallocated 
 

l. The effect of the new Retained Non-Domestic Rates System, the operation of which 
was devolved to councils for the first time in 2013-14, has been £550,000 more than 
estimated, mainly because of refunds to ratepayers as agreed by the Valuation Officer 
relating to previous years; 

 
m. Investment Income is £12,000 more than the estimate because of increased 

balances giving rise to more investing opportunities; 
 
 
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

 
n. Housing Repairs have saved £48,100 from tightly managing the various repairs 

programmes; 
 
o. Sheltered Housing has saved £20,200 on equipment purchase; 
 
p. General Administration: Payments to tenants for moving to enable re-development 

were £191,700 less than estimated in year.  These re-developments will occur in future 
years and budget provision will be allowed for in the relevant year; 

 
q. All planned Tenant Participation groups and activities took place in the year; effective 

commissioning and procurement of these (e.g. tenants’ magazine and training events) 
resulted in £24,400 savings against budget. 

 
r. Additional Income of £207,300 has been received, because of a combination of better 

void turn-around and re-let properties rental amounts being higher; 
 
s. As Right to Buy Sales have been greater than anticipated this has meant that 

£1,378,000 of Capital expenditure has not had to be funded from Revenue; 
 
t. These have enabled £1,500,000 to be transferred to the Investment Reserve;  

 
 
 

Capital 
 

u. The New Homes Programme is scheduled to take place over several years and 
continues to be developed.  The Linton scheme was completed in year, other schemes 
are being prepared and a further new scheme has been identified for 2014-15.  
£742,100 was not required to be drawn down in 2013-14 and has been requested to 
be rolled-over into 2014-15 to allocate towards these schemes; 

  
v. Some ICT projects were postponed due to awareness that the vendor is making 

changes to the product/service, making it more viable to defer and buy the updated 
version when available.  Delays in recruiting to some vacant posts, while providing an 
in year revenue saving, impacted on resources available to deliver some capital 

Page 16



projects within previously anticipated timeframes.  The government delayed the need 
for us to provide upgrades to Cabinet Office requirements for PSN compliance.  As a 
result, work to the value of £142,000 is now expected to be undertaken in 2014-15 and 
has been requested to be rolled over; 

 
w. Repurchases of GF Sheltered Properties have been £45,000 more than budgeted; 

and 
 
x. The planned replacement of Awarded Watercourses vehicles has not taken place 

because they have not reached the end of their economic life; a request has been 
received to roll-over the £40,000 into 2014-15.  

 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is left blank intentionally.



APPENDIX C 
 
DETAILS OF ROLLOVERS FROM 2013-14 TO 2014-15 
 
 
 
Budget rollover rules are governed by the budget and policy framework rules, as follows: 
 

“Rollover of unspent budget provision from the previous financial year to the current 
year will only be permitted in exceptional cases (excluding employees). A list of 
rollovers will be completed and reported for approval to the Finance (and Staffing) 
Portfolio Holder by 31 July each year. Rollovers may then only be used with the 
approval of the Section 151 Officer, approval being on an individual basis during the 
year, when the director/cost centre manager can demonstrate that the current year’s 
budget is fully spent/ committed and that there are no other sources of funding, 
including virement. Rollovers are for specific items and cannot be vired.” 

 
The following items in the 2013-14 budget will be underspent at the end of the 2013-14 
financial year, but the expenditure will now fall within 2014-15.  If approved by the Finance 
and Staffing Portfolio Holder, the relevant estimate provisions will be rolled forward into 
2014-15 ONLY IF or WHEN the S151 Officer is satisfied that the relevant 2014-15 budget 
has been fully committed.  Each of these rollovers will have been approved by the relevant 
Director and Portfolio Holder before being presented to the Finance and Staffing Portfolio 
Holder. 
 
 
 
GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGETS 
 
  1.  Staffing & Central Overhead Accounts (Cllr D Whiteman-Downes):  

Contact Centre, £5,000 
To purchase uniforms for customer contact centre staff – budget not needed in 2013-14 
but will be required in 2014-15. 
 

  2.  Environmental Services Portfolio (Cllr M Martin): 
Waste Management Strategy, £24,000 
To enable the on-going use of agency staff to facilitate the transition change within the 
Refuse Collection Service. 

 
  3.  Environmental Services Portfolio (Cllr M Martin): 

Refuse Collection, £58,700 
To finance the procurement of the In-Cab technology to facilitate round optimisation. 

 
  4.  Economic Development Portfolio (Cllr N Wright): 

Transport Initiatives, £8,300 
BikeBus Explorer partnership funding for 2013-14 now required in 2014-15. 

 
   

Total General Fund revenue budget rollovers from 2013-14 to 2014-15, £96,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
 5.  Housing Portfolio (Housing Revenue Account) (Cllr M Howell): 

New Homes Programme, £742,110 
To allocate towards schemes currently being prepared and a further new scheme that 
has been identified for 2014-15.   

 
 6.  Corporate & Customer Services Portfolio (Cllr D Whiteman-Downes): 

ICT Development - £142,000 
To support the ongoing ICT projects programme for service and system improvement 
across a number of service areas, continue existing information management 
programmes including web (intranet and internet review), mapping services and EDRM 
(I@W) requirements and provide funding for revised ICT Security in line with PSN, 
CPSN requirements and network infrastructure upgrades. 
 

7.    Environmental Services Portfolio (Cllr M Martin): 
Awarded Watercourses - £40,000 
The existing 4 x 4 vehicles scheduled to be replaced in 2013-14 have not reached the 
end of their useful life and the plan is now to replace them sometime in 2014-15. 
Funding is from the Drainage Infastructure Fund so there is no impact on internal 
funding. 
 
Total Capital Programme budget rollovers from 2013-14 to 2014-15, £924,110. 

 
 
 

Grand Total budget rollovers from 2013-14 to 2014-15, £1,020,110. 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

AIM A – We will listen to and engage with residents, parishes and businesses to ensure we deliver first class services and value for 
money 
A1. Continue to invest in 
employees and members by 
carrying out actions in the 
Organisational and Member 
Development strategies 
 
(Simon Edwards and David 
Whiteman-Downes / Susan 
Gardner Craig and Fiona 
McMillan) 

We received confirmation from the East of England 
Local Government Association that we maintained 
the standards of the Elected Member Development 
Charter.   
We have delivered a comprehensive Member 
Development Programme of training sessions on a 
wide variety of skills development topics and a series 
of briefings on key topical issues for the organisation. 
53 of the Council’s 57 Members have attended at 
least one training session or workshop during the 
year; feedback has been largely positive in terms of 
participants feeling that the development 
opportunities provided will assist them in carrying out 
their roles. 
We have also supported Members with the rollout of 
iPads, with beginner and intermediate sessions held 
in January and February 2014.  
The second cohort on the Leadership Development 
Programme have completed their learning projects, 
which took forward corporate improvement projects 
linked to the Business Improvement and Efficiency 
Programme (see A4 below) around discretionary 
services, internal communications and recruitment 

Our new Corporate Plan includes a priority action to 
deliver Organisational and Member Development 
strategies. 
Work is underway to review the Member 
Development Strategy and recommend changes. We 
are also carrying out an induction programme for new 
Members elected in the May 2014 elections. 
We will put in place a programme of employee 
surveys. These will focus on key aspects of 
employee engagement and satisfaction.  
A revised Performance Development Review (PDR) 
scheme took effect 1 April 2014, allowing staff to 
identify behaviours which support the Council’s 
Values of Working Together, Integrity, Dynamism 
and Innovation. 
EMT will also be considering proposals to take 
forward coaching, building on skills developed during 
the Leadership Development programme. 
 
The Organisational Development Strategy and Action 
Plan will be reviewed by Scrutiny with particular focus 
on Apprenticeships, Leadership/Management 

P
age 21



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

and selection. Final presentations were made to 
management team in February 2014, with detailed 
follow-up reports and recommendations to follow at 
EMT. 
We launched a new Buying Additional Annual leave 
policy and Flexible Retirement policy and several 
staff have made use of these new arrangements. 
Remote and homeworking policies are currently 
under review. 
We have delivered a corporate skills programme to 
improve the way we communicate with our 
customers, partners and stakeholders to all staff, 
identifying tangible improvements to standard letters 
and templates which have resulted.   

Development, Member Development and staff 
readiness to move towards a more commercial 
approach to service delivery. 

A2. Maintain financial resilience 
whilst channelling our 
resources to create 
opportunities for investment, 
sustainable borrowing and 
economic growth (Simon 
Edwards / Alex Colyer) 
 

We have introduced an integrated performance 
monitoring report bringing together headline 
information around budgets, performance indicators, 
key projects and strategic risks, enabling issues to be 
identified and addressed in a co-ordinated manner. 
Year-end outturn showed net underspends of 
£505,400 (General Fund), £162,090 (Capital) and 
£239,600 (Housing Revenue Account). These 
underspends have not adversely affected service 
delivery or performance. 
SCDC’s external auditors issued an unqualified audit 

The Corporate Plan 2014-19 includes a strategic 
objective to improve efficiency and value for money 
within a viable financial strategy. Our new MTFS 
requires us to deliver further savings of £300,000 in 
2014-2015 and £790,000 in 2015-2016 in order to 
absorb continuing funding cuts and deliver a 
balanced strategy. 
We will take forward exciting initiatives with the 
potential for large-scale investment and income 
generation, including the pilot scheme for the 
Council’s new housing company, investing £7 million 
to enable the company to acquire an initial portfolio of 

P
age 22



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

opinion of our 2012/13 accounts, representing a 
strong endorsement of the quality and robustness of 
our financial procedures and personnel. 
Council approved a revised and updated Medium 
Term Financial Strategy in February 2014, developed 
to take into account 25% cuts in central government 
funding for the third successive year. SCDC has 
delivered £5 million of efficiency savings over the 
past four years. 

homes for rent during 2014-15, and City Deal with 
government to deliver new housing and transport 
infrastructure for the Cambridge Sub-Region (see B5 
and B10 below).  
 
 
 

A3. Ensure best use of Council 
assets and benefit from 
opportunities to achieve 
efficiencies from working 
together (Simon Edwards / Alex 
Colyer) 
 

We launched shared Internal audit and HR/payroll 
services with Peterborough City Council and 
Cambridge City, in July 2013 and April 2014 
respectively.   
A joint post with County Public Health team began in 
November 2013 to take forward health partnership 
working, on a 12-month trial basis.  
Cabinet endorsed the City Deal and gave in-principle 
approval to the development of a joint waste service 
with Cambridge City Council, at its meeting on 10 
April 2014. 
SCDC has participated in the county-wide Making 
Assets Count partnership. The partnership explored 
setting up a Joint Venture to manage public sector 
assets across the county, agreeing to develop 
specific projects and revisit a possible Joint Venture 

The Corporate Plan 2014-2019 retains a strategic 
objective to ensure the best use of Council assets 
and benefit from opportunities to achieve efficiencies 
from partnership working. This objective will be 
delivered through the City Deal (see B5 below) and 
making assets count initiatives, and through the 
exploration of new shared service opportunities, 
including a Strategic Partnership with 
Huntingdonshire District Council, announced in April 
2014.   
 

P
age 23



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

model when appropriate. 
A4 Carry out projects from the 
business efficiency programme 
(BIEP), working with services to 
reduce costs and deliver better 
ways of working (David 
Whiteman-Downes / Alex 
Colyer) 
 

The programme has progressed largely according to 
timescale; several projects have delivered 
recommendations to EMT for improved working 
practices and cashable savings. The goods and 
services review has provided a focus on reducing 
costs through effective procurement, delivering a 
framework contract for the employment of agency 
staff which has saved £38k in the current year, and is 
projected to save a further £65k during 2014-15.  
The review of waste services resulted in Cabinet 
agreeing a revised collection schedule for green and 
blue bins from Winter 2014-15, which is projected to 
save the Council £200k in 2014-15 and £400k per 
year from April 2015.   

The 2014-2019 Corporate Plan commits us to 
implementing recommendations from the 2013-2014 
BIEP and carrying out the 2014-2015 programme, 
identifying further savings to contribute towards the 
Council’s MTFS target. 

A5 Further improve how we 
engage with residents, keeping 
them informed about the 
Council and its services and 
using their feedback to shape 
future service delivery (David 
Whiteman-Downes / Alex 
Colyer) 
 

We carried out a survey on our residents’ magazine, 
in response to which we have provided additional 
information on rogue traders and more focus on 
transport issues. 
Social media followers have continued to increase 
and we are trying to use the channel to encourage 
engagement. 
A new business newsletter has been launched to 
give better and more targeted information to firms. 
This aims to improve the two way conversation we 
are having. We also launched a bi-monthly parish e-
bulletin, responding to feedback from parishes that 

A media partnership is to be set up to help improve 
attendance at our annual Park Life event. 
Discussions have begun with Cambridge News. 
We are promoting key events such as the Tour de 
France (coming through our district) to help residents 
know how they can get involved and advise them of 
any possible issues to consider on the day. 
EMT has agreed an annual engagement schedule for 
the resident Consultation Panel, maximising its value 
in helping us monitor customer satisfaction and 
shape future service delivery. 

P
age 24



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

communication needed to be improved.  
We are reviewing our tenants’ magazine with a view 
to improving design, production method and content. 
In 2013 the highest quantity of media coverage was 
achieved, with 93% being positive or neutral. This 
was an excellent result and is a good way to promote 
the work of the Council. 
The publication of the Council’s budget in February 
was followed by targeted communications explaining 
how taxpayers’ money is being spent. 

 

A6.  Increase the supply of 
temporary  
accommodation, prioritising 
council-owned properties whilst 
not restricting options in other 
sectors. (Mark Howell / 
Stephen Hills) 
 

The project to redevelop the Robson Court hostel site 
is progressing well. Following the grant of planning 
permission, work started on site in Autumn 2013, with 
an 18-month build-out programme.  
 
The Council is continuing to be proactive in 
identifying suitable properties for purchase and use 
as temporary accommodation, with 12 properties 
purchased between April-December 2013. 
We have put in place a revised Homelessness 
Strategy, one of the key objectives of which is to 
increase the amount of good quality temporary 
accommodation and reduce the use of B&B and 
associated expenditure. This has been achieved, and 
expenditure on this type of temporary 
accommodation is quarter of that spent the previous 

The Corporate Plan 2014-2019 includes a strategic 
objective to increase the range and supply of 
temporary accommodation to help minimise the use 
of bed and breakfast accommodation for homeless 
households. We will achieve this by implementing 
actions in the Homelessness Strategy and 
completion of the Robson Court hostel refurbishment 
project. 
 
 
 

P
age 25



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

year. 
Homeless prevention has increased during the year, 
due to successful private rent placements and social 
housing lets; we helped a total of 147 households 
avoid homelessness, compared to 131 in 2012-13. 
 
The number of households in temporary 
accommodation rose during the year, with 11 more 
households in temporary accommodation at the end 
of 2013/14 (53, compared to 42 at the end of 
2012/13), and a quarter-end average of 50.  
However, when compared with the increasing 
numbers accepted as homeless, where the increase 
has been much larger (127 accepted in 2013/14 
compared to 102 in 2012/13 – showing an increase 
of 25 households), the team worked hard to minimise 
the use of temporary accommodation wherever 
possible.   

A7. Ensure the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan and 
Community Infrastructure 
framework are based on 
effective engagement (Pippa 
Corney / Jo Mills) 
 

The Council submitted its Local Plan to the Secretary 
of State on 28 March 2014, put together following 
options consultations which involved 30 public 
exhibitions generating over 30,000 comments.  
During the Options consultations the majority of 
people told us they wanted our plan to focus 
development in new towns or villages rather than 
spreading housing across most existing villages, 
protect the green belt around Cambridge by planning 
new housing on brownfield land first, ensure the right 
services were delivered for new homes and take into 

An Inspector has been appointed to oversee the 
Public Examination of our Draft Local Plan. This will 
involve a series of public hearings on dates to be 
identified, and may require us to prepare additional 
supporting evidence. 
Following further public consultation, the Draft 
Charging Schedule for CIL will also be submitted for 
examination to coincide with that on the Local Plan. 
The eventual introduction of CIL is dependent on 
adoption of the Local Plan and is therefore not 
anticipated until Spring 2015. 

P
age 26



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

account the transport implications of new 
development. Whilst the new plan will not be able to 
meet everyone's needs, we are confident it will 
largely achieve these key objectives. 
Consultation on the draft Plan ran from 19 July – 14 
October 2013. This included 17 more public 
exhibitions at venues across the district, attended by 
over 1,400 residents, and a feature article in the 
residents' magazine, including a feedback form for 
residents to give their views; this attracted over 1,500 
responses. 
Alongside the local plan, we have been developing 
plans for the introduction of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL), consulting on a Preliminary 
Draft Charging Schedule during August-September 
2013. We received a total of 232 representations, 
which have informed the preparation of a Draft 
Charging Schedule, agreed for further consultation in 
April 2014. We are now proposing to levy a zero CIL 
rate on retail development at strategic sites, a 
change arising from concerns about viability which 
emerged from the consultation.   
 

If the Inspector considers that the plan requires main 
modifications to make it sound/legally compliant, 
public consultation on these would take place after 
the public hearings, and the outcome of the 
consultation taken into account by the Inspector 
before the Inspector’s Report is published.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A8  Work with RECAP waste 
partners to reduce council tax 
costs, carbon impacts and 
waste sent to landfill (Mick 

The county-wide RECAP waste partnership has 
agreed to develop a full business case for 
implementation of a “whole systems approach” to 
waste collection. Ultimately the business case will 

The Council’s Corporate Plan for 2014-2019 retains 
waste partnership working as a strategic objective. 
To achieve this objective, we will: 

P
age 27



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

Martin / Mike Hill) 
 

need to demonstrate that there are significant 
benefits which can only be achieved by working 
together. The strategy is initially for each individual 
authority to make those changes, improvements and 
savings it is able to deliver on its own in preparation 
for future partnership working.   
We have begun the procurement of a joint Materials 
Recycling Facility contract for the processing and 
sale of “blue bin” recyclable materials, together with 
separate procurement of a joint contract for the sale 
of paper, to replace the current SCDC contracts 
when they expire in October 2015. A joint Invitation to 
Tender is due to be published in January 2014. 
The Council is taking part in a project to jointly 
purchase large refuse vehicles across RECAP 
partners, agreeing a shared specification and 
Invitation to Tender. 
Cabinet gave in-principle approval to the 
development of a joint waste service with Cambridge 
City Council, at its meeting on 10 April 2014, and we 
have also developed a Service Level Agreement for 
cross-border working with Cambridge City at major 
growth sites including Cambridge North-West and 
Trumpington Meadows.  
The Council’s reuse and recycling rate for the year 
was 56.7%. The latest benchmarking figures showed 

• Agree and begin implementation of RECAP 
integrated waste collection model. 

• Continue development of joint operational 
waste arrangements with Cambridge City 
Council, and 

• Deliver agreed waste efficiencies and 
improvements. 

 P
age 28



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

SCDC’s performance remaining in the top 20 of all 
English districts. 

A9 . Ensure benefits reform is 
implemented as smoothly and 
as effectively as possible 
(Simon Edwards / Alex Colyer) 
 

We reallocated staffing resources to deal with the 
higher volume of customer enquiries arising from the 
implementation of the Localised Council Tax Support 
scheme in April 2013 and have closely monitored the 
financial impact of the new scheme, to explore 
whether it will require review to remain viable in 
future years. This monitoring has identified that the 
scheme is financially sound and has been easily 
understood by residents, consequently Council 
agreed to retain it for 2014-2015.  
Consistently high first-time call resolution rates being 
achieved by the Customer Contact Service 
(averaging 82.3%) have helped the Benefits Team 
maintain and enhance its performance in processing 
new claims in spite of demand increasing. We also 
maintained outstanding performance in respect of 
rent (98.8%) and Council Tax (99.25%) collection 
rates. 
We have been given additional funds to support 
residents experiencing hardship resulting from under 
occupancy reductions in benefit, Benefit caps, Local 
Housing Allowance and to support claimants in 
specially adapted properties. Our Spring 2014 
magazine included an article reminding those 
receiving Housing Benefit and experiencing a 
shortfall between the rent charged and the amount of 

The Council’s Corporate Plan for 2014-2019 retains 
managing the impacts of welfare reform smoothly 
and effectively as a strategic objective. 
 
We will continue to monitor the impact of the 
government’s welfare reform programme with 
respect to Council Tax support, Universal 
Credit, fraud and over-accommodation on customers, 
the Local Support for Council Tax Scheme and the 
Council Tax Base. We will adapt our service to meet 
increased demand and plan for the possibility of 
the requirement to amend the LCTSS for 
2015/16.  
 
 

P
age 29



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

Housing Benefit received that they can apply for a 
Discretionary Housing Payment. 
Affordable Homes set up an Under Occupation 
Project which provided timely information and advice 
to all households affected by the under occupation 
subsidy.  28 households have been helped to move 
and overall there has been a 20% reduction in the 
number of households affected by the changes. 

A10. Effectively influence the 
new Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Plans via 
improved engagement with our 
local communities and better 
sharing of intelligence with 
police and partners (Mick 
Martin / Mike Hill) 
 

South Cambridgeshire remains one of the safest and 
most peaceful places in the UK in which to live, work, 
study and enjoy a great quality of life. To help 
maintain this, SCDC has: 
• Worked with County Council children and 
young people’s locality teams, Police and 
housing associations on individual and shared 
cases. 

• Introduced a new IT system (E-CINS) 
enabling improved working with partners on 
anti-social behaviour incidents. 

• Publicised local issues of concern including 
awareness of shed and garage burglaries and 
doorstep crime. 

• Introduced a new format for Neighbourhood 
Panels to improve SCDC participation and 

We will:  
• Carry out further training for partners, such as 
housing associations, on using E-CINS. 

• We will continue to include articles in our 
residents’ magazine which reflect local 
community safety priorities. 

• Ensure staff from across the Council 
undertake Community Safety Accreditation 
training.  The paperwork to apply for 
accreditation is being completed and will be 
submitted following the staff training. 
Accreditation will enable some enforcement 
staff to use a small number of police powers 
to help us tackle anti-social behaviour issues. 

• We will work with the police to embed the new 
Neighbourhood Panel arrangements. 

P
age 30



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

working with the police.  
• Trained staff and partners on anti-social 
behaviour injunctions, with enforcement 
action in specific cases resulting. 

 

 
 

We will work with partners to create opportunities for employment, enterprise, education and world-leading innovation 
B1. Work with partners to 
improve digital infrastructure  
(Nick Wright / Alex Colyer) 

Connecting Cambridgeshire - a multi-million pound 
partnership investment project to provide superfast 
broadband - is underway. BT has been tasked with 
planning the broadband roll-out to make the best use 
of public money so that it reaches every 
Cambridgeshire community by 2015. 
During March, 41 new fibre broadband cabinets went 
live across the county, including Papworth Everard. 
Many more villages will be reached with fibre 
broadband during 2014. A new ‘My Area’ checker is 
now available on the Connecting Cambridgeshire 
website www.connectingcambridgeshire.co.uk to 
show how areas and parishes fit in to the roll-out plan 
as it progresses. It will be regularly updated. 
Over £4.5m has been secured as part of the 
Connecting Cambridgeshire programme to help 
businesses afford faster broadband connections and 
make the most of digital technologies. A new 
countywide business support initiative, Destination 
Digital, was launched in January to help hundreds of 

Successful completion of the project will ensure that 
communities and businesses across Cambridgeshire 
will benefit from some of the best fibre broadband 
coverage in the county by the end of 2015. Over 98% 
of homes and businesses across the county can 
expect to have access to fibre-based broadband by 
the end of the contract, with 90% of homes and 
businesses having access to speeds of 24 MBPS 
and higher. 
 

P
age 31



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

small and medium-sized businesses get better 
connected so they can increase productivity and 
create new jobs. Eligible companies will be able to 
apply for grants in the form of vouchers of up to 
£3,000 to help upgrade to high speed broadband, 
access free business support and a 40% discount on 
digital technology. The scheme was advertised in the 
Spring 2014 South Cambs magazine. 

B2. Support the local economy 
through developing a Register 
of Businesses and Business 
Support schemes  
(Nick Wright / Jo Mills) 

The new Business Register has 400 entries. The 
Register will enable businesses to access support 
and information and receive updates on financing, 
tendering and funding opportunities.  
 
We launched a new e-newsletter, Open for Business, 
in January 2014, offering practical ideas, tailored 
advice, news and information to help start, grow, 
manage and run businesses in the district.  

 
Working with business support specialists Exemplas, 
we have run two further series of practical workshops 
to address specific issues raised by local firms. The 
workshops have been well-attended and feedback 
continues to say they are well- regarded.  The latest 
series of workshops includes sessions particularly 
relevant for local pubs, and have been promoted to 
all licensed premises. 
We have also worked with Exemplas to pilot a set of 
locality workshops in Waterbeach, and a business 
advice referral service.   

The 2014-2019 Corporate Plan retains a strategic 
objective to make the district an even more attractive 
place to do business. 
We will achieve this objective through: 
• Continuing to promote the Business Register 
(an officer has been appointed on a fixed term 
basis to progress this), and the associated 
newsletter Open for Business, that will be 
issued every two months 

• Reviewing the locality workshops and 
business advice service, with a view to rolling 
out more widely during 2014/15 

• Developing and implementing a joined-up 
approach to work with business customers , 
including a key-account management service 
with agreed criteria.     

• Implementing a joint ‘Business Support Hub’ 
with Cambridgeshire County Council and 

P
age 32



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

partners 
B3. Establish a Council ‘Back 
to work’ project, and promote 
apprenticeships to equip all our 
young people for productive life  
(Mark Howell / Stephen Hills) 
 

A Pathway to Employment strategy was approved by 
Cabinet in April 2013. Apprentices were appointed 
within housing, Revenues and Finance, Policy and 
Performance teams.  
We have also carried out a successful work 
experience programme with a local school during 
July and hosted university student placements in 
Legal & Democratic Services and Conservation. 

Skills and Employment have been identified as a key 
theme within the updated economic development 
action plan agreed by the Portfolio Holder in 
December 2013, under which we will be seeking to 
develop the Pathway to Employment strategy to 
expand our apprenticeship programme, develop a 
Community Impact Strategy and establish the 
potential for a young persons foyer scheme, aimed at 
providing intensive training and support.   
The Planning and New Communities directorate will 
be running another work experience programme this 
summer due to popular demand.  
 
The 2-week structured programme will take place in 
July 2014 and aims to provide young people the 
opportunity to gain skills and practical work 
experience in urban design, architecture, town 
planning, landscape design, transport planning, 
ecology, sustainability and historic buildings. A 
forthcoming residents’ magazine article will 
encourage students aged 15 to 18 to participate and 
develop skills and experience. 
 
 

B4. Continue an effective 
approach to enforcement to 
target residents’ problems 
whilst effectively supporting 

The Tasking & Coordination Group met fortnightly to 
join up enforcement action across the organisation 
and focus on complex/cross-team cases. 
Workshops took place with Councillors, Officers, and 

Staff from across the Council will undertake 
Community Safety Accreditation training in 
Spring/Summer 2014.  The paperwork to apply for 
accreditation is being completed and will be 

P
age 33



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

local business success (Mick 
Martin / Mike Hill) 
 

Parish Councils to develop a new corporate 
Enforcement & Inspection Policy. The draft policy 
was consulted on between October-December 2013. 
Unfortunately few responses were received. 
SCDC staff, along with partners, undertook anti-
social behaviour injunctions training in February 
2014.  Enforcement action has been taken forward 
by the Council and police as a result (see also A10 
above). 
 

submitted following the staff training (see also A10 
above).  
We will approach the Chamber of Commerce and 
Federation of Small Businesses for views on the draft 
Policy and work an officer workshop to consider 
technical aspects before submitting a final draft for 
adoption by councillors. 
We will carry out a project to develop a corporate 
enforcement and prosecution process and 
associated management information and 
performance reporting for use by all SCDC 
enforcement teams. 

B5. Work with the LEP and 
other partners to facilitate local 
innovation and 
entrepreneurship (Nick Wright / 
Jo Mills) 
 

The Greater Cambridge City Deal bid, put together 
by the district, city and county councils, Cambridge 
University and the Local Enterprise Partnership 
(LEP) will, if successful, will facilitate investment and 
economic growth. Following over a year of 
negotiations, the principles of the deal were agreed. 
The Council has joined the London Stansted 
Cambridge Consortium with Cambridgeshire County 
Council and Cambridge City Council, to promote 
investment priorities and opportunities along this 
corridor including improvement to the Cambridge – 
London Liverpool Street railway line. 
Links are maintained with the LEP through senior 
officer and member groups. 
 
  

The Council’s Corporate Plan for 2014-2019 commits 
SCDC to take forward the City Deal proposal, as part 
of the strategic objective to ensure best use of assets 
and benefit from opportunities to achieve efficiencies 
from partnership working. 
 
From 2015-19 the Deal would see £100 million 
released to invest in transport infrastructure, with two 
further rounds of £200 million each being released if 
the Council and partners achieve agreed triggers. An 
additional 1,000 much-needed additional affordable 
homes on sites on the edges of existing villages 
would also be delivered. 
 
In addition to funding for transport and more 
affordable housing, the Deal would see the county, 
district and city councils sharing some of their funding 

P
age 34



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

 and powers, and working even more closely than 
now. This would allow for the creation of a single 
strategic vision for the future of the area covered by 
Cambridge City and South Cambridgeshire.  
 
We will continue to work with the LEP and LSCC, as 
well as other strategic partners to support and 
facilitate economic growth and investment. 
 

B6. Work with partners to 
deliver an effective, 
collaborative approach to 
strategic planning, transport 
and drainage (Pippa Corney / 
Jo Mills) 
 

The Council's Draft Local Plan, submitted to the 
Secretary of State for public enquiry in March 2014 at 
the same time as that of the Cambridge City Council, 
was developed in close collaboration with 
neighbouring authorities through the work of a 
district-city-county council spatial planning councillor 
group. The group coordinates spatial planning 
(including land use) and an integrated transport 
strategy for Cambridge City and South 
Cambridgeshire, and provides high level oversight of 
current Cambridgeshire growth strategy.  The Group 
made recommendations to both councils in respect of 
their draft Local Plans, prior to their agreement for 
consultation. 
At the same time as agreeing the Draft Local Plan, 
Cabinet agreed a Memorandum of Cooperation, put 
forward by the county-wide Joint Strategic Planning 
and Transport Group setting out objectively assessed 
housing needs for the area. 
The Council worked with authorities and LEPs to 

Discussions will take place with the Planning 
Inspectorate to arrange a joined up approach 
towards the consideration of shared matters as part 
of public enquiries into the SCDC and City Council 
Local Plans. 
The Highways Agency undertook a further options 
consultation on the A14 upgrade between April-June 
2014, to inform the subsequent announcement of a 
preferred option. SCDC has responded to this 
consultation, urging the provision of high quality 
segregated cycle paths and to ensure the new road 
layout took into account the full Northstowe 
development beyond Phase 1. 

P
age 35



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

agree in principle a contribution towards the funding 
of the A14 upgrade, following the Government 
announcement in June 2013 that the scheme would 
start as early as 2016.  

In response to pressure from local authorities 
including SCDC, the government announced in 
December 2013 that plans to toll the A14 Cambridge 
to Huntingdon improvement scheme would not go 
forward. 

B7. Ensure the effective 
delivery of Northstowe and 
other new communities  
(Tim Wotherspoon / Jo Mills) 

A £30 million legal agreement has been successfully 
negotiated and signed to enable the first phase of 
1,500 homes at Northstowe to proceed. 
The legal agreement includes contributions towards 
primary and secondary schools, transport, 
community centre, sports pitches, park, open spaces 
and drainage. 
The first phase of new homes will also include a local 
centre with shops and employment opportunities as 
well as a household recycling centre. 
The outline planning permission for phase one was  
subsequently issued on 22 April 2014, enabling 
building work to begin. 
The planning application for the new station at 
Chesterton Sidings, near the Science Park, has been 
approved. We are forming a joint project team to look 

The Council’s Corporate Plan for 2014-2019 includes 
a strategic objective to establish successful; and 
sustainable new communities with housing and 
employment and Northstowe and the major growth 
sites, served by an improved A14. Specifically, we 
will: 
- Develop investment proposals to deliver Northstowe 
Phase 2,  in partnership with Cambridgeshire County 
Council and Homes and Communities Agency 
- Continue to drive forward the A14 upgrade 
programme 
- Progress the ‘Wing’ (Cambridge East) application 
- Work with promoters of Cambourne, Darwin Green 
and other major sites to bring forward new planning 
applications to deliver new homes and jobs. 

P
age 36



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

at development principles for the wider North East 
Cambridge area which could inform planning policy. 
Work will start on the new station this year with a 
planned opening at the end of 2015. It will generate 
benefits to residents and commuters in terms of 
improved access to the north of Cambridge, to the 
rail network, and to connecting services without 
having to go through the City centre; and in 
stimulating further economic growth. 

B8. Deliver a range of homes 
that are affordable and where 
people want to live in areas that 
will support economic growth  
(Mark Howell / Stephen Hills) 

We completed 158 new affordable homes during the 
year. The scheme to bring forward new affordable 
units at the Windmill Estate, Fulbourn, is due for 
completion in December 2014.  
 

The Council’s Corporate Plan for 2014-2019 retains a 
strategic objective to build new council homes to 
provide affordable accommodation to meet the needs 
of local communities. 

B9. Build the first of the new 
Council houses in the New 
Build Strategy 2012-15 (Mark 
Howell / Stephen Hills) 
 

The new development at Chalklands, Linton, was 
completed on time, with tenants now in residence.  

Other schemes are in progress: 
Approx. 15 properties in  Foxton – Feb 2015 planning 
application scheduled  
Approx. 11/12 properties in Bourn- still at the 
discussion stage  
Willingham - being reviewed to identify possibilities 
The Council’s Corporate Plan for 2014-2019 retains a 
strategic objective to build new council homes to 
provide affordable accommodation to meet the needs 

P
age 37



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

of local communities. We will deliver actions from the 
New Build Strategy as part of this objective. 

B10. Set up a new way of 
delivering equity share, market 
sale and private rented 
properties (Mark Howell / 
Stephen Hills) 
 

South Cambs Ltd was established in January 2013. 
Cabinet has authorised officers to carry out a pilot 
scheme for the new housing company, with £7 million 
allocated to enable the company to acquire an initial 
portfolio of homes for rent during 2014-15. 
Staff have now been recruited. We have also taken 
on our first 28 homes at Waterbeach. They are all 
being privately rented. 

Following Cabinet authorisation we are setting up the 
company structure and brand and carrying out 
market research to inform the subsequent purchase 
programme. Developing the pilot scheme into a full 
business plan has been identified as a corporate 
objective in the 2014-2019 Corporate Plan. 

We will make sure that South Cambridgeshire continues to offer an outstanding quality of life for our residents 
C1. Develop solutions to deliver 
co-ordinated community 
transport (Nick Wright / Mike 
Hill) 

The Cambridgeshire Future Transport project 
continues to review local bus services. Clusters of 
villages are being looked at together, with the county 
subdivided into many such clusters, each to be 
looked at in turn.  
 
Following the first stage of the project, communities 
opted for a bus service that will operate a fixed route 
schedule to manage peak demand, then become 
“demand responsive” allowing people to book the 
journeys they want to make. The bus can take them 
anywhere within a defined “Roam Zone”, or to join 
with connecting services if their destination is farther 
afield. To complement this service, Cambourne is to 
benefit from enhanced facilities to create a transport 
interchange on the High Street. We will continue to 
work with the County Council, other partners and 

The Corporate Plan 2014-2019 retains a key action 
around delivering community transport initiatives: we 
will continue to work with Cambridgeshire County 
Council and local communities on the 
Cambridgeshire Future Transport programme to find 
solutions to the district’s transport challenges. 
 

P
age 38



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

residents to implement these changes. 
Details of how the responsive transport scheme will 
work, between Comberton and Gamlingay, were 
included in the Spring residents’ magazine, including 
a map of the ‘Roam Zone’ and details of other 
operators’ routes in the area.  
The South Cambs Transport Directory was updated 
by SCDC in May 2013 and has been widely 
distributed. 

C2 Work with older people and 
the voluntary sector to roll out 
the new  ‘Community 
Navigators’ and ‘Safer Homes’ 
schemes as part of the Ageing 
Well Strategy (Mick Martin / 
Mike Hill) 
 

23 professional community navigators and 11 
individual community navigators are now in place 
across South Cambridgeshire.  The professional 
volunteers are from Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
and Bluebird Care based in Hardwick. 
Work to explore possible future funding and 
procurement options and delivery models to enable 
this highly successful Handyperson (Safer Homes) 
Service to continue across the county is ongoing.  
SCDC is playing a key role in the process. 
Portfolio Holder task and finish work to develop 
integrated Ageing Well, Health & Wellbeing and 
Children and Young People’s strategies has 
progressed well. 

Options for future funding and procurement of a 
countywide Safer Homes work will continue to be 
progressed. 
We will continue to promote the Community 
Navigators scheme via staff, parishes and other local 
groups we are in contact with. 
The Corporate Plan 2014-2019 includes a key action 
to begin implementation of the integrated Health & 
Well-being, Children, Young People & Families and 
Ageing Well Action Plans, following the work of the 
task and finish group. Initial findings and 
recommendations will be reported to Cabinet in July 
2014. 
 

 

P
age 39



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

 
C3. Work with GPs and Local 
Health Partnership to improve 
the health of new communities, 
access to mental health 
services and support for 
emerging vulnerable groups 
(Mick Martin / Mike Hill) 

Relationships continue to be built between planners 
and health colleagues. A regular meeting between 
the growth teams, NHS England, CCC and CATCH 
(local commissioning group) is now taking place. We 
have agreed a joint post with County Public Health 
team to include a focus on this area, which 
commenced in November 2013 on a 12-month trial 
basis. 
Emerging Vulnerable Groups: Attempts are being 
made to secure District involvement in the CCG 
Older People’s Programme Board and its work to let 
a £850m contract for older people’s services with a 
view to creating a “whole system approach” to older 
people’s health & wellbeing and joining-up with 
Housing services. Initial meetings have also been 
held to discuss the response to Ormiston work with 
the Gypsy and Traveller community and intelligence 
on housing-related matters. 
The South Cambridgeshire Local Health Partnership 
has begun projects looking at better support for our 
residents with mental health issues, exploring the 
links between housing and health (namely discharge 
planning with Addenbrookes), procurement for new 
Cambridgeshire Community Services contract, 
pulling together an ageing well programme to support 
older people remain independent and stay in their 
own homes. 

SCDC will complete Portfolio Holder Task & Finish 
Group to develop an SCDC Health & Wellbeing Plan, 
integrated for Children and Young People and Older 
People (see C2 above). 
The Corporate Plan for 2014-2019 retains improving 
the health of our communities as a strategic 
objective. 
We will continue to progress the mental health 
project to establish closer working with mental health 
teams and better support residents. 
We will commission a playing pitch assessment, 
across South Cambs and Cambridge, to support the 
new Local Plan and respond to representations. 
 
 
 

P
age 40



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

C4. Address the 
accommodation needs of 
Gypsies and Travellers (Mark 
Howell / Stephen Hills) 
 

The Council’s draft Local Plan proposes provision will 
be made for at least 85 permanent Gypsy and 
Traveller pitches between 2011 and 2031, and at 
least 4 plots for Travelling Showpeople between 
2011 and 2016. Provision for the 85 pitches has now 
been identified and Homes and Communities Agency 
(HCA) money secured to invest in current provision 
to ensure that this can be sustained for the future. 
Council in September 2013 gave approval for the 
purchase of the site at Fen Road, Milton, and the 
acquisition and refurbishment of the county-owned 
sites at New Farm, Whaddon and Blackwell, Milton.  

The Council’s Corporate Plan for 2014-2019 retains 
providing affordable homes, including existing and 
Gypsy and Traveller sites, as a strategic objective. 
We are developing a detailed business case 
demonstrating financial viability to be agreed by the 
Section 151 (Chief Finance) Officer in consultation 
with the Finance and Staffing Portfolio Holder, by 
October 2014.  

C5. Work with local 
communities and businesses to 
develop and deliver actions on 
green issues that make a 
difference (Nick Wright / Mike 
Hill) 
 

Significant progress has been made in implementing 
specific South Cambridgeshire elements of the 
Action on Energy scheme: 
 
- Action on Energy initiative launched 
November 2013. The scheme website 
www.actiononenergy.net is up and running.   

 
- Two Cambridgeshire based staff have been 
employed so far to work on the scheme.   

 
- Contacts have been made and are being 
developed with the Cambridge Citizens’ 
Advice Bureau and Cambridge Council for 
Voluntary Service (CCVS). 

 
- Although South Cambridgeshire has not yet 

Progressing the Action on Energy and Sustainable 
Parish Energy Partnership remain priorities as part of 
the Corporate Plan 2014-2019 objective to sustain 
vibrant, successful villages. 
 
SCDC will work closely with Climate Energy to 
ensure the community and environmental benefits of 
the scheme can be realised locally. 
 
Climate Energy’s Project Plan will seek to deliver 600 
measures in 400 homes in its first year, lifting 60 
households out of fuel poverty. 
 
The Action on Energy delivery plan going forward 
includes performance monitoring, a marketing 
schedule and programmes to recruit local installers 
into the scheme and engage local community groups. 

P
age 41



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

been the focus for a marketing campaign the 
scheme has nevertheless processed 165 
enquiries from South Cambridgeshire 
residents, via magazine articles, events and 
thermal imaging projects.   

    
The Council commissioned a report on pubs and 
farms, following a series of Green Business 
Breakfasts held during 2012/13.  The report has been 
completed, and in July and December 2013, the PFH 
endorsed further work to develop approaches to 
support the rural economy of villages as part of an 
updated Economic Development Action Plan.   
 
The countywide Action on Energy project board has 
received £7.8m, including £2m for the private rented 
sector, from central government for a project to 
encourage uptake of wall insulation for privately 
owned houses with solid walls (older homes which 
don’t have cavity walls and cannot benefit from 
simpler and cheaper cavity wall insulation).  
 

The first marketing campaign in a small number of 
villages in the district began in May 2014. 
 
 
We will be promoting the Collective Switching 
scheme in the district, which aims to save residents 
money on their energy bills by signing up with energy 
suppliers who then use their collective buying power 
to negotiate with energy providers for cheaper tariffs. 
It has been run in many other parts of the country 
with good results, saving on average £100-£200/year 
on energy bills for consumers.  
 

C6. With the new Youth 
Council, develop an integrated 
plan to improve health, success 
and opportunities for young 
people (Pippa Corney / Mike 
Hill) 
 

Portfolio Holder task and finish work has begun to 
develop integrated Ageing Well, Health & Wellbeing 
and Children and Young People’s strategies. 
The Youth Council has had an active year, 
participating in a number of initiatives SCDC’s Park 
Life event and BBC3’s Free Speech, a current affairs 
show which aired live from Cambridge in October.  

The Corporate Plan 2014-2019 includes a key action 
to begin implementation of the integrated Health & 
Well-being, Children, Young People & Families and 
Ageing Well Action Plans, following the work of the 
task and finish group. 
The new Youth Council for 2014-2015 is in place. 
The Council’s activities will include running the 

P
age 42



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

The Leader has agreed a plan that will see youth 
councillors consider all applications for project 
funding targeted at people aged up to 18 years old, 
as part of the Community Chest grant scheme. 

entertainment stage at Parklife, attending the annual 
Business Forum in July, the Cambridge 
Conversations Conference in September and getting 
involved with the new housing developments in the 
area. 

C7. Celebrate rural life through 
the Community Pride, Village 
Heroes and best-kept garden 
awards (Ray Manning and 
Mark Howell / Mike Hill and 
Stephen Hills) 
 

The Best Kept Garden competition was held during 
Summer 2013 for SCDC tenants and leaseholders, 
with the Awards Ceremony held on 4 October. 
The annual Community Pride and Village Hero 
Awards, which recognise the contributions local 
people make to their communities, took place in 
March 2014 at Cambourne Village College. Over 100 
people gathered to celebrate the vast amount of work 
that is carried out voluntarily in our local 
communities. 
The Park Life event attracted record crowds of 
almost 5,000 people to Milton Country Park, with staff 
from teams across the council coming together to 
make the event a success. 
Community Right to Bid: A total of 31 local 
amenities have been listed as Assets of Community 
Value, including a number of local pubs. Listing 
provides a moratorium on the sale of up to six 
months in the events of the assets coming to be sold, 
giving local communities greater opportunity to 
consider bidding for ownership of the asset.   

Cllr Manning has agreed to increase the amount 
communities can bid for under the Council’s 
community chest grant scheme. The new £1,500 
limit, which has been increased from £1,000, will 
mean communities can make more substantial 
purchases and deliver bigger projects. 
We will continue to promote the Council’s grant 
schemes. 
Preparations are well underway for the 2014 Park life 
event, which we hope will be bigger and better than 
ever. This year it will include football and cycling 
initiatives as part of celebrations of the Tour de 
France and World Cup. 
We will also be running annual Community Pride, 
Village Heroes and best-kept garden awards. 
We will be lobbying government to tighten planning 
regulations to prevent pubs converting into shops 
without planning permission. 
 

P
age 43



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

 
We have launched a new online grant grabber which 
helps groups locate avenues of funding from the 
Council and beyond. This can be found by visiting 
www.scambs.gov.uk/grant-search-service. 

C8. Continue support for 
community orchards, 
allotments, hedgerows, tree-
planting and other conservation 
and enhancement schemes, 
including the Chalk Rivers 
project 
(Nick Wright / Jo Mills) 

We have progressed several local enhancement 
projects, including the restoration of Hoffer Brook and 
management of improved areas on Rivers Mel and 
Shep involving Harston Scouts. 
 
We have achieved enhancements through planning, 
including reinstating the Repton landscape at EDF 
Milton.  
Conservation projects have been awarded funding 
from the Community Chest Grants Scheme at Histon 
and Impington (trees for community orchard - £1,000) 
and Little Eversden (tree planting - £242) 
We have launched initiatives to plant mini-meadows 
on underused amenity grass across the district, and 
to install bird and bat boxes alongside wall insulation 
in council properties, to combat the impact of external 
insulation on wildlife.  
 
 

Following the restructure and realignment of the 
Conservation Service, a new Consultancy Team will 
provide a single point of contact and undertake an 
enabling role for specialist conservation projects, 
such managing buildings at risk and wildlife 
enhancement schemes. Projects will be delivered 
according to a set of specific requirements defined by 
customers/partners and have clear timeframes.  
 

C9 Establish projects to 
consider the options for 
upgrading and improving 
Council homes (Mark Howell / 

The Council is due to undertake a community 
consultation exercise for the potential major 
redevelopment of the site at Wilford Furlong, 
Willingham. Initial design options are currently being 

The Affordable Homes Directorate’s 2014-2015 
Service Plan includes a key project to Identify 
preferred options to help improve the overall 
environment of Wilford Furlong, Willingham in 

P
age 44



APPENDIX D - CORPORATE PLAN 2013-2018 – YEAR-END PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

COUNCIL AIM AND 
ASSOCIATED ACTIONS 
(Lead Portfolio Holder / 
Management Team Lead) 

HOW DID WE DO? 
 

WHAT’S STILL LEFT TO DO?  

Stephen Hills) 
 

prepared. The findings will be reported in October 
2014. 

consultation with residents, the parish council and 
local members. 

C10 Jointly lead the ‘Together 
for Families’ partnership project 
to improve the lives of families 
with the most complex needs 
(Mick Martin / Mike Hill) 

Data is now regularly shared by SCDC to identify 
families that meet the government and local criteria. 
Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP) 
locality meetings now include discussion of Together 
for Families cases as well as Anti-Social Behaviour 
(ASB) cases to ensure a joined up approach and 
avoid duplication. 
The expanded Family Intervention Project is now in 
place and accepting new cases. 

The Corporate Plan 2014-2019 contains a key action 
committing us to work with partners to develop a 
“Lead Professional” approach to working with the 
families with the most complex needs. 
SCDC will continue to work with partners to identify 
families that meet the government and local criteria.  
We will also be training staff as lead professionals to 
provide resilience to the Together for Families 
project. 
The future work on rolling out the new IT system, E-
CINS, will help us to deliver a joined-up programme 
of support to families on the scheme (see A10). 
 

 

P
age 45



P
age 46

T
his page is left blank intentionally.



APPENDIX E – Strategic PIs by Portfolio – 2013-14 full-year performance 
 
PI reference PI description 2013-2014 

Performance 
Target Lead Officer 2012-13 

performance 
Year-on-Year 
Direction of 
travel 

2014-2015 
target 

Finance and Staffing Portfolio 
BV010 % of NNDR 

collected 
99% 99% Katie Brown 99.2%  99% 

BV009 % of Council Tax 
collected 

99.25% 99.1% Katie Brown 99.2%  99.1% 
BV066a % of rent 

collected 
98.84% 98% Katie Brown 98.9%  98% 

NI181 Average days to 
process Benefit 
Claims 

12 12 Dawn 
Graham 

14  12 

SF772 General Fund 
Variance £ 

(£601,400) - Graham 
Smith 

(£445,500)  N/A 
SF707 General Fund 

Variance % 
(3.75%) 3% Graham 

Smith 
(3.03%)  3% 

SF774 HRA Variance £ (£239,600) - Graham 
Smith 

(£705,600)  N/A 
SF748 HRA Variance % (0.88%) 3% Graham 

Smith 
(2.75%)  3% 

SF773 Capital Variance 
£ 

(£1,086,200) - Graham 
Smith 

(£419,100)  N/A 
SF749 Capital Variance 

% 
(7.25%) 3 Graham 

Smith 
(3.87%)  3% 

SF752 % Undisputed 
invoices paid in 
10 days 

75.6% 80% Sally Smart 71.9%%  80% 

BV008 % Undisputed 
invoices paid in 
30 days 

96.7% 98.5% Sally Smart 96.8%  98.5% 

P
age 47



PI reference PI description 2013-2014 
Performance 

Target Lead Officer 2012-13 
performance 

Year-on-Year 
Direction of 
travel 

2014-2015 
target 

BV012 Staff Sickness 
Days per 
employee 

7.42 8 Susan 
Gardner 
Craig 

8.27  7 

SX005 Staff Turnover 
(cumulative) 

12.47% 7% Susan 
Gardner 
Craig 

5.74%  10% 

Housing Portfolio 
BV213 Number of 

households 
helped to prevent 
homelessness 

147 131 Susan 
Carter 

131  147 

NI155 Number of 
affordable homes 
delivered 

158 237 Schuyler 
Newstead 

101   

NI156 Households in 
temporary 
accommodation 

50 42 Susan 
Carter 

42   

SH302 % Tenant 
satisfaction with 
responsive 
repairs 

95.5% 95% Anita 
Goddard 

95.23%  95% 

BV212a Average days to 
re-let General 
Needs housing 

16 20 Anita 
Goddard 

25  20 

Corporate and Customer Services Portfolio 
SX129 % customer 

satisfaction with 
Contact Centre 
service 

100% 90% Dawn 
Graham 

- - 90% 

SX130 % first time 
resolutions 

82.3% 80% Dawn 
Graham 
 

- - 80% 

P
age 48



PI reference PI description 2013-2014 
Performance 

Target Lead Officer 2012-13 
performance 

Year-on-Year 
Direction of 
travel 

2014-2015 
target 

Environmental Services Portfolio 
NI182 % Business 

satisfaction with 
regulation 
service 

83% 90% Myles 
Bebbington 

- - 90% 

SE267 % satisfaction 
with waste 
services 

89% 88% Paul Quigley - - 89% 

SE270 % satisfaction 
with local 
environmental 
quality 

84% - Paul Quigley - - 84% 

SE268 % of licensed 
premises 
adjudged to be 
compliant with 
the Licensing Act 

98% 90% Myles 
Bebbington 

99%  90% 

SE269 % of major non-
compliances 
resolved 

84% 90% Myles 
Bebbington 

50%  90% 

SE201 Missed bins per 
100,000 

43.4 50 Stuart 
Harwood-
Clark 

43.3  50 

NI192 % of household 
waste for reuse, 
recycling and 
composting 

56.7% 60% Paul Quigley 55.86%  58% 

Planning and Economic Development Portfolio 
NI157a % Major planning 

applications 
determined in 13 
weeks 

59% 60% Nigel 
Blazeby 

50%  60% 

P
age 49



PI reference PI description 2013-2014 
Performance 

Target Lead Officer 2012-13 
performance 

Year-on-Year 
Direction of 
travel 

2014-2015 
target 

NI157b % Minor planning 
applications 
determined in 8 
weeks 

63% 65% Nigel 
Blazeby 

68%  65% 

NI157c % ‘Other’ 
planning 
applications 
determined in 8 
weeks 
 

80% 80% Nigel 
Blazeby 

78%  80% 

NI157d % ‘Major major’ 
planning 
applications 
determined in 16 
weeks 

53% 60% Nigel 
Blazeby 

50%  60% 

SP944 % satisfaction 
with Planning 
and New 
Communities 

70% 70% Nigel 
Blazeby 

66%  70% 

 

P
age 50



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Scrutiny and Overview Committee 5 November 2009 
AUTHOR/S: Executive Director (Operational Services) / Corporate Manager 

New Communities 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr David Bard – New Communities Portfolio Holder 

 
 

ORCHARD PARK 
PROGRESS SINCE TASK AND FINISH GROUP REVIEW 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To inform the committee on: 
 

(a) Progress at Orchard Park since the last update in April 2009 
(b) Progress against the Task and Finish group’s recommendations of October 

2008 
 

Executive Summary 
 
2. It is now nearly two years since the Task and Finish Group began its review of 

Orchard Park (then Arbury Park). Since that time much has changed and many 
different parties have scrutinised the development to learn lessons. In developing 
plans for the emerging growth sites, partners have taken forward the 
recommendations of the Task and Finish Group. In particular the recommendations 
have helped in the planning for Trumpington Meadows and Clay Farm on Cambridge 
Southern Fringe. 
 

3. Orchard Park has a thriving Community Council, a new community building and is 
gradually taking ownership of the various parcels of public open space with sports 
pitches and changing facilities due for completion in spring 2010. The primary school 
has an active PTA, well used community rooms and has just received a good 
OFSTED inspection. Partners have been meeting for over a year to tackle joint 
issues, particularly those associated with the economic slowdown. Building has re-
commenced and sales are increasing. Initiatives are being explored to develop some 
of the remaining land parcels and studies are ongoing with regard retail options in the 
area. 
 

4. The Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group recommendations were taken 
forward into an action plan, which is attached at Appendix 1. Progress has been 
made and is detailed where appropriate. Where recommendations have been 
implemented this is shown, although the work does not stop there. The New 
Communities service plans to take all the recommendations along with others 
highlighted by the City Council, Horizons, County Council and through our own 
experiences into a compendium. This would serve as a checklist for all new 
developments, helping to implement the higher-level principles of the Cambridgeshire 
Quality Charter within actual delivery. 

 
Background 

 
5. The Scrutiny Committee appointed a Task and Finish Group to review Orchard Park 

(formally Arbury Park) in February 2008. Following months of interviews with 

Agenda Item 7

Page 51



partners, stakeholders, officers and other interested parties; the group reported their 
findings to Scrutiny Committee in October 2008. Cabinet considered this report in 
November and reported back to the Scrutiny Committee in December with an action 
plan to address the Task and Finish Groups recommendations. An update on the 
action plan and other interventions at Orchard Park was presented to the Scrutiny 
Committee in April 2009, following which they requested a further update in six 
months time. A timeline is attached at Appendix 2 to show key dates in more detail. 
 

6. Parish boundaries meant that Impington parish became the governing body for 
Orchard Park during its early stages of development. From November 2008 an 
interim Community Council took over chaired by resident Jens Kirschner. They 
worked with Impington and the three local members to manage the development’s 
affairs until 1st April 2009 when the Parish of Orchard Park was created. Election to 
the Community Council could not take place until the normal day of elections, which 
was 4th June. This gave rise to the issue of who should represent the new Parish 
during this time. Following guidance from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government, the three local members for Histon and Impington agreed to act as 
representatives of Orchard Park Community Council from 1st April until 8th June or 
thereabouts (when the new Community Council would hold its first meeting). This was 
not an easy period for the local members and many lessons have been learnt for the 
future to ensure this situation does not arise again. 
 

7. On 4th June 2009, nine community councillors were elected without contest to the 
Orchard Park Community Council. At their first meeting on 10th June Cllr Dr Bard 
presented the new Council with a gavel to celebrate their inauguration.  A chair and 
vice chair were also elected at this meeting. In September the Community Council 
appointed a new clerk to administer the Council’s affairs. Lessons have been learnt 
from the governance process at Orchard Park and steps are being taken to ensure a 
smoother transfer is achieved at the other new developments. 
 

8. The arts have played a key role in the development of the community at Orchard 
Park. A public art plan funded through S106 contributions, house builders, sub 
developers, Cambridgeshire County Council, CABE, Arts and Business, TESCO, 
Grants for the Arts (Arts Council England), Awards for All (Lottery) and others has 
resulted in a range of arts projects including site-specific public art works and socially-
engaged projects. These projects along with the activities and advice offered by the 
community development worker who is funded by the S106 and housing association 
at Orchard Park have increased the level of community participation from an early 
stage of the development. Many residents, who engaged early on, are still actively 
taking part today, including a number of Community Councillors. 
 
Orchard Park – One year on 
 

9. The Cambridgeshire Quality Charter for Growth sets out the core principles of the 
level of quality to be expected in new developments in the Cambridge Sub region. 
SCDC along with other partners and organisations signed up to the charter to ensure 
a joint approach, goals and understanding was taken to delivering growth in the 
region. Using the charters four principles of community, connectivity, climate and 
character all held together by collaboration provides a good structure on which to 
update members of progress at Orchard Park. 
 
Community 
 

10. After lengthy delays and contracted negotiations the community centre was 
transferred to the Community Council on 28th August 2009. It is now home to the 

Page 52



Community Council clerk and community development worker and hosts the 
Community Council meetings along with other events and activities. Funding from 
Cambridgeshire Horizons has enabled an alarm to be fitted and other fixtures and 
fittings purchased. SCDC officers are now assisting in procuring a contractor to raise 
the height of the ceiling in the smaller community room to enable more varied 
activities to take place there. Installation of CCTV is also being considered.  
 

11. With five official Council meetings held to date the Community Council are settling in 
to the running of their parish. Subgroups including a planning committee and a 
facilities committee are now operating with their own terms of reference and taking on 
responsibility for their areas of work. A Community newsletter is to be published 
shortly to help the Community Council communicate with residents on Orchard Park 
and provide residents with a forum to include other news. A website is also being 
produced to make the Council and the development more prominent. 
 

12. SCDC is continuing to support the Community Council with a programme of training 
to help develop their community leadership skills. Officers have also led on events 
including Cambridgeshire celebrates age in October and a volunteer’s fair in 
November. A close relationship exists with the resident community development 
worker (CDW) who has helped the community to set up a number of groups, organise 
events and activities and help bring together lots of residents on the development. 
Groups include Little Apples, Able to be Independent and a residents group working 
on neighbourhood watch, litter picking and events. The CDW is also working closely 
with the Community Council to produce a newsletter, raise awareness of decision-
making and improve the appearance of undeveloped land with planting events. 
 

13. A book detailing Orchard Park’s journey “Home Grown: Art and the cultivation of a 
neighbourhood” was recently published.  A copy will be delivered free to each 
household.  This book was one of a number of commissions made by the Orchard 
Park Public Art Project Management Group (OPPAPMG) consisting of Gallagher 
Estates, the Community Council and SCDC.  OPPAPMG also commissioned a 
neighbourhood artist who has worked closely with residents from an early stage in the 
development on a number of programmes including street signs, gift frames to new 
residents, mosaic workshops, the banana arts unit and urban beach, and the recent 
Crop Marks residency with seven artists (sponsored by Premier Inn).   
 

14. The neighbourhood artist’s work comes to a close in December 2009 and she is 
working on a continuation strategy with Park Arts Group (PAG).  PAG are a group of 
resident volunteers who plan to manage an annual programme of community-related 
arts events in partnership with the Community Council and the CDW.  More details 
can be found on http://www.parkartsgroup.org.uk/ and 
http://www.sameanddifferent.net/. At a recent Community Council meeting, 
Councillors thanked the neighbourhood artist Kirsten Lavers for her help in making 
Orchard Park the community it is today. Kirsten presented the Community Council 
with framed pictures taken throughout her time on Orchard Park to hang in the 
Community Centre. 
 

15. A survey in addition to the recent Place Survey was conducted over the summer with 
Orchard Park and Cambourne residents. The intention was to compare the views of 
residents living in new communities with those living in the more established south 
cambs villages. A separate report detailing the results and findings is being presented 
to the New Communities portfolio holder (PFH) on 5th November. In summary it 
shows that residents in the new communities do not feel they “belong” to their 
neighbourhoods yet, are not as satisfied with their area as a place to live and think 
sports and retail facilities would improve their neighbourhoods. Not surprising results 

Page 53



but ones, which are analysed further along with an action, plan in the PFH report. 
 
Connectivity 
 

16. The Citi4 bus service began servicing Orchard Park in January 2008. There have 
been issues with the route, which uses some of the more narrow parts of the 
development and also with the location of bus stops. The Community Council, school 
and residents have been consulted on new locations for bus stops and changes to 
the route by the county council. Once these have been agreed with Gallagher’s 
changes to the route will be implemented before Christmas and the bus shelters can 
begin to be built. It has been noted that passenger numbers are low and stagecoach 
will not run the service indefinitely if this remains the case. The Community Council 
has plans to publicise the bus to increase its usage. 
 

17. The Cambridge Guided Bus runs parallel with King’s Hedges Road to the front of the 
development at Orchard Park. Construction on this phase is ongoing and due to be 
complete by Christmas with residents able to use the service early in 2010. Along 
with the good road network, cycle and footway links, Orchard Park is very well 
connected to Cambridge and the surrounding area. That is not to say that 
improvements are not needed, especially with cycling routes from Histon and 
Impington. 
 

18. There continues to be an issue with parking policies and the reality of parking in a 
high-density development. Parking has been provided but not all residents use the 
designated places and street parking is prevalent. This has caused problems with the 
bus route and a few accidents on tight bends within the development. Until the roads 
are adopted there is little enforcement that can be done, however SCDC is working 
with partners to look at other options, which include the introduction of a car club 
scheme and follow up work to the personalised travel-planning project.  
 
Climate 
 

19. A number of small-scale environmental projects have been initiated at Orchard Park. 
The school has solar panels and a wind turbine, which are connected to a display 
board in the school showing their outputs. They provide learning opportunities for the 
children and were intended to help reduce energy bills, however to date this has not 
been the case and the County Council are reviewing there use. Air quality monitoring 
equipment is also located at the school to measure the outputs from the A14. It has 
not been in place long enough to make assumptions since levels differ throughout the 
year, however the air quality action plan is available on the Council’s website and 
shows how SCDC is tackling air quality in the area.  
 

20. BPHA’s affordable housing units on parcel F were installed with ground source heat 
pumps and solar panels are fitted on those at parcel B2. Usage and effectiveness is 
being monitored by BPHA but no results were available at the time of preparing this 
report. The community centre “green roof” was partly funded through the S106 
innovation fund and is an additional sustainable element, which adds a new 
dimension to the development. 
 

21. The land at the far East of Orchard Park (K1) shown by black stripes on Appendix 3 
is owned by Cambridge City Council. This land along with L2 opposite it, are currently 
being reviewed by consultant Stephen Hill of Future Planners for potential self-
commissioned homes. Stephen was commissioned by SCDC and has been working 
with landowners, City and SCDC officers, the Community Council and interested 
partners/architects to review the viability of such homes in Cambridge. A workshop to 

Page 54



showcase some ideas is planned for 4th November after which Stephen will soft 
market the proposals and report back to SCDC in December with his findings. It is 
hoped this research can be taken forward for the other growth sites in 
Cambridgeshire to increase the number of sustainable innovative homes. 
 
Character 
 

22. As at 3rd September there were 517 homes occupied on the development (264 
market and 253 affordable). All the affordable housing agreed under the outline 
planning consent had been built and a new site of 32 shared ownership homes was 
under construction on land opposite the community centre. The map at Appendix 3 
shows the detail of what is build and what is planned along with land ownership 
details. Appendix 4 highlights built and ongoing development to date.  
 

23. Planning permission was granted for the local centre (blue striped land surrounding 
POS2 on Appendix 3) in August 2009 and a planning application has been received 
for the commercial area (green striped land adjacent the A14). This application is due 
to go to Planning Committee in December 2009. 
 

24. The first area of public open space (POS5), which comprises a children’s pay area, 
was transferred to the community council in October 2009. Other play/seating areas 
including POS3, POS4, POS6 and POS 7 are currently under 12 months 
maintenance from the developer and planned to transfer summer 2010. POS1 which 
includes the changing facilities, tennis courts, sports pitches and play area are 
currently under construction and due to be complete in March 2010. The only 
outstanding area of public open space is POS2, which is planned along with the local 
centre. 
 

25. As part of the housing shortfall allocation, Orchard Park has been allocated 220 extra 
homes on three parcels of land. These are identified on the map at Appendix 3 by the 
red striped land on the corner (Gallagher owned) and two orange hatched areas of 
land adjacent the A14 to the east end of the site (L2 and commercial, Unex owned). 
Discussions continue with the landowners but no planning applications have been 
received to date. 
 

26. A retail study is currently taking place, reviewing the whole North West quadrant of 
Cambridge to assess the viability and need of retail in this area. When concluded it 
will give clarity to landowners at Orchard Park and North West Cambridge in relation 
to options for their land. 
 
Action Plan 
 

27. The action plan at Appendix 1 shows the recommendations made by the Task and 
Finish Group in November 2008. It then shows the progress that has been made 
against these recommendations to date. So far 32 of the recommendations have 
been implemented with just 12 requiring further attention.  
 

28. The Scrutiny recommendations and other lessons learnt will all be taken forward by 
the New Communities Service to be included in a “New Communities Compendium” 
developed with partners to ensure a collaborative approach is taken to delivering new 
communities within the principles of the quality charter. This will ensure that even 
those recommendations that have been implemented (as shown on the action plan at 
Appendix 1) will not be forgotten, they will be implemented within the future growth 
sites planned for the Cambridge area. 
 

Page 55



Implications 
 

29. The Council’s financial situation will have implications for the action plan and how 
officers take forward recommendations at future growth sites. The New Communities 
service will continue to work with new communities prioritising resources to the most 
fundamental issues. 
 

30. Financial It is hoped the cost of producing a “New Communities 
Compendium” can be met from existing resources and/or 
funding from other partners. Prioritisation of actions will be key 
given the current economic climate. 

Legal Legal resources to help negotiate and develop S106 packages 
are key to delivering a number of the recommendations and on 
going best practice.  

Staffing Considerable resources have been put into taking forward the 
recommendations from the Task and Finish group across 
authorities. Partnership working is key to achieving the desired 
outcomes within the resources available. 

Risk Management The action plan serves as a reminder to other developments of 
the risks involved in designing and building new communities. 
We will continue to monitor these through the risk assessments 
developed for each growth site and the corporate risk registers 
for the Council and Cambridgeshire Horizons. 

Equal Opportunities The council is committed to providing a fair and equitable 
service to all its residents and learning the lessons from 
developments such as Orchard Park helps to achieve this aim. 

 
Consultations 

 
31. Considerable consultation has taken place in the development of this report. A 

questionnaire was sent to the following partners/stakeholders: 
 

a. Orchard Park Community Council 
b. Gallagher’s 
c. Impington Parish Council 
d. Local Members 
e. City Council 
f. County Council 
g. Persimmon homes 
h. Martin Grant homes 
i. Taylor Wimpy 
j. BPHA 
k. Places for People 
l. Unex 
m. Cambridgeshire Horizons 
n. Homes and Communities Agency 

 
32. The questionnaire sought to gather views on what had worked well/not so well at 

Orchard Park; what improvements could be made; what lessons needed to be learnt 
and any other comments. A summary of responses can be seen at Appendix 5. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



Effect on Strategic Aims 
 

33. Being a listening Council, providing first class services to all 
Developing a compendium showing how new communities will be delivered into the 
future will instil confidence that lessons are being learnt and best practice is being 
taken forward to ensure these communities are the best they can be. 
Ensuring that South Cambridgeshire continues to be a safe and healthy place 
Working with partners including the PCT and Police in delivering the 
recommendations of the Task and Finish Group will ensure new developments are 
safe and healthy places to live. 
Making South Cambridgeshire a place in which residents can feel proud to live 
The compendium will ensure the needs of any new community are met and will 
support other services to deliver growth and serve a growing population. It will 
promote the cultural, economic and environmental sustainability of communities 
across the district. 
Assisting provision for local jobs 
The Economic strategy will identify how local jobs can be incorporated into new 
communities and the types of businesses that will be attracted to these 
developments. 
Providing a voice for rural life 
It is important that communities feel engaged. The Community Engagement 
Strategy, which has been developed in part, out of the Task and Finish Groups 
recommendations, will ensure residents are well informed and able to communicate 
effectively with the council.  

 
Options 
 

34. The Committee is asked to: 
 

a. Note the progress at Orchard Park, 
b. Agree that the recommendations from the Task and Finish Group have been 

or have robust plans to be implemented, and 
c. Note the production of a “New Communities Compendium” containing all the 

lessons learnt and recommendations from cross-district reviews to assist 
SCDC and partners in delivering the growth agenda. 

 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:  
• Response to Arbury Park Task and Finish Group Report – 4th December 2008 
• Arbury Park Action Plan – 4th December 2008 
• Arbury Park (Orchard Park) Lessons Learnt – Report to South Cambridgeshire In 

Your Patch Meeting – 10th December 2008 
• Review of Arbury Park Development – Report to Environment Scrutiny Committee, 

Cambridge City Council – 13th January 2009. 
• Review of the Orchard Park development and lessons to be learnt for future major 

developments - Report to Environment Scrutiny Committee, Cambridge City Council 
– 23rd June 2009. 
 

Contact Officer:  Kirsty Human – Corporate Projects Officer 
Telephone: (01954) 713297 

 
Contact Member:  Cllr Dr David Bard 

 
Portfolio Holder:  Cllr Dr David Bard – New Communities Portfolio Holder 

Page 57



Page 58

This page is left blank intentionally.



Orchard Park Action Plan – November 2009 
Recommendations as agreed by Scrutiny Committee in December 2008. Additional columns reflect current position and status of completion.  
 

 Scrutiny Recommendation Progress to date Completion/ 
Target dates 
April 09 

Completion/ 
Target dates 
Nov 09 

1 Design Guide    
1a The master developer or the council should produce a 

Design Guide, before the first planning applications are 
made; this should be formally adopted and then enforced 
when evaluating applications 

The joint urban design team are taking forward the design 
guide and codes for the growth sites in partnership with 
the New Communities Team. The design guide for 
Trumpington Meadows will be adopted early in 2010 and 
will include details on phasing, materials, design and 
layout etc… Arrangements are being made for Members 
to receive guidance/training on what design codes mean 
and how they work. 

Dec 08 Implemented 

1b The Design Guide should set out an agreed programme 
for phasing the development, aiming for whole sections to 
be completed before moving to the next phase. March 09 Implemented 

1c The Design Guide should spell out the approach to crime 
and safety design issues, encouraging joint working with 
police and the council’s arts, sports and community 
development teams. 

Workshops have been held in 2009 with the Police and 
the counter terrorism unit to ensure new developments are 
designed and built in accordance with their safety design 
principles. Such learning opportunities will continue to be 
taken advantage of where applicable. 

Dec 09 Implemented 

1d The County and District councils should specify road and 
footpath materials that are attractive as well as durable 
and fit for purpose.  Planning permission should require 
the developer to provide and maintain paths and roads to 
an adoptable standard where houses are occupied. 

The County and District Councils are all working in 
accordance with the jointly produced “Cambridgeshire 
Design Guide” to ensure road and footpath materials are 
consistent throughout the county. SCDC and County are 
working together to speed up adoption times whilst 
requiring the developer to compete surfaces outside 
occupied homes. This is working in Orchard Park with 
special arrangements being put in place for less mobile 
residents to aid movement around the development. 

Jan 09 Implemented 

1e Design aspects not covered in the main Design Guide 
should be the subject of subsequent design codes. 

Design codes are being produced for all the growth sites. 
Those for Trumpington Meadows will be approved by the 
JDCC early in 2010. 

Dec 08 Implemented 
1f The Council should develop and use a scoring system 

such as at Huntingdonshire District Council, to assess 
large developments and inform the district-wide Design 
Guide 

The “Building for life” checklist has been implemented for 
all major developments with an assessor appointed to 
take forward training with other staff on its requirements. Oct 09 Implemented 

2 Urban Design & Enforcement    
2a Urban design expertise should be retained and used 

throughout the pre-planning, planning and construction 
Joint Urban Design team in place from January 2009 now 
helping to take forward the major growth sites. Jan 09 Implemented 

Appendix 1 

P
age 59



stages at Arbury Park and future large developments 
2b The urban designer and planning enforcement officer 

should closely monitor the development at every stage, as 
resources allow. 

SCDC does not have resources for monitoring 
developments. Trumpington Meadows is the first growth 
site to secure monies through the S106 to fund monitoring 
of the development. It is hoped this will be replicated on 
the other sites as they come forward. 

Oct 09 Implemented 

3 Standard of Planning Applications    
3a SCDC should develop a stronger reputation via pre-

application meetings that if proposals are not acceptable 
they will be refused without negotiation. 

A Pre-Application advice protocol has been developed 
and is being publicised through the Agents Forum and via 
the Council’s website. 

Feb 09 Implemented 
4 S106 Agreement    
4a S106 officers should provide a communication hub and 

actively ensure that work progresses in all aspects and in 
compliance with agreed trigger points. 

New post of S106 Implementation officer recruited to 
monitor S106 triggers and payments, act as central point 
of information for S106 issues and compliance.  

Jan 09 Implemented 
4b The counting of occupations should be done (at least 

monthly) by only one party – preferably the planning 
authority, to avoid duplication – and then shared with 
parish, city, district and county council colleagues. 

S106 Implementation officer monitors occupations and 
shares information with relevant council services to avoid 
duplication of effort. Dec 08 Implemented 

4c S106 negotiations should invite timely input from all local 
stakeholders, whilst retaining probity and confidentiality of 
negotiations. 

New post of S106 officer recruited to work with the 
Parishes and other stakeholders to ensure 
requirements/obligations are fed into S106 agreements. 
Working on many agreements across the district not just 
the growth sites e.g. Gamlingay, Thriplow and 
Waterbeach. 

Dec 08 Implemented 

5 Phased Construction    
5a Large developments should be built according to a 

phasing plan, starting at one or two points, as appropriate 
for the size of development, then building outwards. The 
aim should be for residential streets and areas to be 
completed in phases so that new residents suffer 
minimum disturbance by ongoing building works. 
However, it should also be noted that phasing could have 
the effect of slowing down the rate at which affordable 
homes are built. 

A phasing plan will be approved for the Trumpington 
Meadows development by the Joint Development Control 
Committee (JDCC). It will ensure development starts at 
the northern end of the site adjacent the existing 
community of Trumpington and then works South towards 
the M11. This should minimise the impact on new 
residents as the building moves southward completing 
infrastructure and planting as it goes. Discussions are 
ongoing with regard phasing of the other growth sites but 
it is hoped Trumpington will set the standard. 

April 09 Implemented 

P
age 60



5b Commercial and community facilities should be included in 
the first phase, with an information centre and community 
development officer being on-site as soon as properties 
are occupied, perhaps initially located in a dual–use 
community house. 

Resources have been secured via the S106 for 
Trumpington Meadows for community development 
workers. Community facilities are being planned in 
conjunction with the primary school and will be in place on 
occupation of the 100th resident. Plans for interim 
arrangements are currently being discussed with the City 
Council and Cambridge Partnerships Ltd (CPL). 

May 09 Implemented 

Consultation is taking place with businesses in South 
Cambs to help us understand the requirements for 
commercial land and space. It is hoped this will result in 
commercial land being developed earlier within the new 
developments.  

As sites 
develop Jan 10 

5c These should be funded and put in place at the earliest 
stage and then reimbursed via the S106 agreement. 

Discussions ongoing with City and CPL to provide interim 
facilities from day one ahead of the purpose built facility. 

As sites 
develop March 10 

6 Community Development    
6a A community development plan should be produced in 

consultation with stakeholders, at a very early stage for 
each new development. It should be clear who has 
responsibility for delivery, monitoring and regular updating 
of the plan. 

The City in consultation with SCDC is preparing a joint 
Community Development plan for the Trumpington 
Meadows development. It will be agreed an in place 
ahead of the first residents to ensure roles and 
responsibilities are understood and took forward.  

Oct 09 Autumn 2010 

6b The work of arms-length community development staff 
should be agreed and managed via a partnership 
agreement.  This should be reviewed quarterly as the 
number of residents grows. 

Discussions are ongoing on joint arrangements with the 
City Council. Further review may take place with the 
Trumpington Meadows Community working group.  June 09 Ongoing 

6c An early priority should be to arrange regular and varied 
community activities, bringing residents together in small 
and larger numbers until networks develop and become 
self-sustaining 

All activities and work with the community will be outlined 
in the community development plan. Residents will review 
the plan when appropriate to ensure it is up to date. A 
review of the existing CD plan is currently underway at 
Cambourne. 

Dec 08 Autumn 2010 

6d Another key service is the initial ‘Information Pack’, which 
should be supplied to new residents on moving in; 
inclusion of a current map should be a priority.   A fuller 
‘Welcome Pack’ should be supplied, preferably in person, 
within three weeks. These packs should provide 
information that is: timely*, concise, self-explanatory, 
accurate; and signposting any further sources of help.  
 *For example information about local surgeries may be 
needed on day one. 

Welcome and information packs are in place at 
Cambourne and Orchard Park. They have already been 
revised once since their roll out and continue to have their 
information reviewed. Surveys sent out with them indicate 
that they are well received and contain all the information 
residents require. The template for these packs will now 
be discussed with partners for use at the other growth 
sites as they come forward. 

Dec 08 Implemented 

6e All the information should also be available electronically Packs are available on the Council’s website. March 09 Implemented 

P
age 61



7 Environmental Health    
7a Landscaping features, such as earth mounds, should be 

used where possible as a noise barrier; this eliminates the 
uncertainty about the location, timing and nature of 
buildings used as a barrier 

At Trumpington Meadows an earth bund is proposed 
alongside the M11. Some earth has already been 
deposited here from the River Cam Enhancement Project, 
with additional earth from the construction of the balancing 
ponds to also be deposited here. Further noise surveys 
will take place when applications are received for houses 
on the southern boundary to check the effectiveness of 
the bund. Work is ongoing between HA and SCDC with 
regard the design of a new fence alongside the A14 at 
Orchard Park. 

As sites 
develop Implemented 

7b Noise readings should be taken before and after a barrier 
is erected, and on both sides of the road.  Any expert 
hired by the council to verify the findings should be 
independent of the developer. 

Noise surveys have taken place at Orchard Park with 
further surveys planned to link in with the A14 
improvements. Oct 09 July 2010 

7c The Highways Agency and developer should 
communicate and consult fully with the parish and district 
councils regarding any proposals to alter major roads 
adjacent to new developments. 

Consultation on A14 draft orders is currently taking place. 
Orchard Park Community Council have copies of the 
consultation documents and will be responding to the 
Highways Agency. 

Jan 09 Jan 2010 

8 Governance    
8a The Council should explore every means of securing 

funding for parish councils to protect them from the 
financial impact of supporting large new developments.  
Existing parish residents must not suffer long-term costs 
because large-scale development has chanced to fall 
within their boundary. 

The Councils S106 officer is working with Parish Councils 
to explore alternative funding. Cambridgeshire Horizons 
have put forward funding to Haslingfield PC for their role in 
Trumpington Meadows and this funding is available for 
other Parishes assisting with growth in the areas/on 
boarders. 

Jan 09 Implemented 

8b Governance arrangements for new developments should 
be settled as early as possible to enable early community 
facilities to be properly managed and to provide existing 
and new residents with a sense of a community identity.  

Informal discussions have taken place with residents at 
Northstowe over a boundary review based on the current 
planning application. Discussions will become more formal 
when the planning application is further advanced. 
Lessons have been learnt from governance at Orchard 
Park and steps are being taken to avoid this in the future. 

March 09 Implemented 

9 Delays in Moving in    
9a The S106 agreement should agree a process for 

accurately setting out building locations. 
This is currently being discussed with City and County 
colleagues in relation to enforcement and monitoring 
arrangements for Trumpington Meadows. 

Oct 09 
 Implemented 

9b The Cambridgeshire Bus Team and other County Council 
colleagues should work closely with the planning authority 

Lesson learnt and officers now working with the CGB 
team and Gallagher’s to ensure the guided bus Dec 08 Implemented 

P
age 62



to ensure the location of boundaries are agreed and 
observed. 

boundaries are finished off in accordance with the plans. 
10 Need a single point of Contact, Communication & Control    
10a The council and the master developer should ensure that 

a mechanism is established from the outset to provide a 
regular forum for all stakeholders to raise and resolve 
concerns. 

The Community Engagement Strategy will detail how and 
what forums may be established. Other groups such as 
the Trumpington Meadows Community working group will 
inform this. 

March 09 March 2010 

10b This forum could be led by a local Member who would be 
regarded as the champion for the new development, 
ensuring that cooperation and communication between all 
stakeholders was maintained.  Such member champions 
should be considered for all new developments. 

This issue is to be taken forward with 
partners/stakeholders in discussions over engagement on 
growth sites. May 09 Ongoing 

11 Affordable Housing    
11a Future developments should emulate the practice used at 

Arbury Park of involving a consortium of RSLs in planning 
and negotiations from the outset. 

Cambridgeshire Partnerships Limited (CPL) is the current 
affordable housing provider delivering 3300 homes across 
the growth sites. This is an innovative consortium 
partnership. The process of selecting a future provider is 
under discussion with the joint strategic housing board. 

Dec 08 Implemented  

12 Building Site Environment    
12a The Council should negotiate via the S106 process that 

developers will register the site(s) on a considerate 
constructors scheme. 

This is being dealt with by planning condition on 
Trumpington Meadows. March 09 Implemented 

12b The master developer, or consortium should appoint an 
officer to monitor and oversee the development and be a 
point of contact for the consortium. 

Funds have been secured within the S106 for 
enforcement and monitoring. A joint protocol to agree how 
and what the approach will be taken is currently being 
discussed between city, SCDC and county. 

As sites 
develop Implemented 

12c Officers should explore means of ensuring that street 
trees are planted at an early stage, rather than at the end 
of the development. 

Each reserved matters application for Trumpington 
Meadows will detail the timing of street tree planting. March 09 Implemented 

13 Maps and Road Signs    
13a The successful road-naming process at Arbury Park 

should be used at future developments. 
A joint protocol with the City is being developed for 
Trumpington Meadows. Dec 08 March 2010 

13b Officers should urgently explore methods for ensuring that 
road nameplates and current road maps are available for 
the first residents of a new development.  These may 
include contractually requiring the master developer to  

• provide road nameplates and locate them as 
guided by the County’s Highways service 

• provide simple, timely street maps 

Officers are working on a joint protocol with the City for 
street naming and this may include a side agreement with 
developers to agree street nameplate responsibilities. 
Primarily it is a district council function and it has not been 
possible to include funding with S106 agreements. 

As sites 
develop March 2010 

P
age 63



• deposit electronic plans with Section 38 
agreements 

14 Primary School    
14a When a school is built to serve a large housing 

development it should be located at the centre of the site 
with safe walking access from all directions and adequate 
road crossings.  

The County Council seeks to site all new schools within 
major new development at locations central to its 
catchment area and with good pedestrian and cycle 
access from all directions.  This approach is being pursed 
for all the growth areas. 

Jan 09 Implemented 

14b A phasing plan for the development should provide for the 
school to be fully ready for use as soon as the first 
residents move in. 

The primary school at Trumpington Meadows is planned 
to open in September 2012 when the trigger of 100 
occupations will be met. Until then places are available 
within local schools. The trigger of 100 occupations has 
been negotiated with developers in the S106 and meets 
county timescales and the developer’s viability.  

Dec 08 Implemented 

14c Planning considerations for a school should ensure an 
optimum physical size that meets statutory access 
requirements and yet will not overburden the school 
budget. The building design should also fit the 
architectural context of the location. The outdoor space 
should provide a stimulating environment for playing and 
learning out of doors. 

A design protocol has been developed in partnership with 
County, City and SCDC. The primary school at 
Trumpington Meadows will be designed in partnership 
with the temporary governing body and other stakeholders 
to ensure it meets the requirements of all involved. An 
access agreement for the community spaces at the school 
is currently being discussed. 

March 09 Implemented 

14d The County Council should limit initial reception class 
intake to new schools and phase increases in admissions 
in line with forecast in-catchment pupil numbers. This 
would ensure that new schools grow at the same rate as 
the development and can accommodate all in-catchment 
pupils as they arrive. This would aid community cohesion. 

The County Council could limit initial reception class 
intake to new schools and phase increases in admission 
in line with forecast in-catchment pupil data to ensure that 
new schools grow at the same rate as the development. 
However, it is not possible to limit children from outside 
the development attending the school if there are places 
available. 

Dec 08 Implemented 

15 Health Facilities    
15a The PCT (NHS) should work with relevant surgeries to 

communicate with incoming residents as soon as a large 
development begins.  Relevant surgeries may not be the 
nearest, but one more easily reached by public transport. 

Working with the NHS and other health providers to agree 
surgery provision on the growth sites. Locations of 
surgeries and other facilities are included in welcome 
packs. 

As sites 
develop Implemented 

16 Utilities    
16a Utilities providers should be fully consulted at regional 

spatial strategy planning stage; not just regarding costs 
but also feasibility and timescales. 

Discussions have taken place with colleagues at regional 
level on this suggestion but this is not something SCDC 
has control over. 

As sites 
develop Implemented 

17 Foul and Surface Water Drainage    

P
age 64



17a The District Council’s on site planning monitoring officers 
should alert Anglian Water at an early stage, of any 
concerns they notice regarding construction of foul and 
surface water drainage systems*.  This would reduce the 
delay in their adoption later in the process.  
*It must be clear that Anglian Water retains responsibility 
for monitoring and adoption. 

Within limited resources SCDC officers will advise Anglian 
Water of any concerns they have in relation to the 
construction of foul and surface water drainage systems. 
We cannot monitor the works on behalf of the water 
authority since this is out of our remit, experience and 
resources. 

As sites 
develop Ongoing 

17b Where drainage adoption is delayed, the Council should 
keep residents informed as to who is responsible for 
dealing with any concerns. 

Information on who to contact for water emergencies is 
included in the welcome packs delivered to residents.  March 09 Implemented 

 

P
age 65



P
age 66

T
his page is left blank intentionally.



�����������	�
������
�

���������� 	�
���������������������������
�������������������
�������������� ����
�����������������
 ������!� ���������
�����
��������!� "���������
�����
#��
���������!� 	���������$��������#�������������
%�&���������!� "���������
�����
������������!� 	#��'��������(�����������)������
��
����������
�����������*� ����������
�����
������������*� #����#���
���������

���������
��+��$������������,�����
����&��-�

���������$�
���������*� ����������
�����
 ������*� .���������
�����
#��
���������*� .���������
�����
	�
��������*� +��$������������,�����������
����������
��#���
���������

������	�������

��$�
%�&���������*� /���������
�����
%�&���������*� #����������
����������
�������+��$������������,�����������
�
������������*� #����������
�������
����
���������
��#���
���������

���
����������
���

����������
��������
���+��$������������,�����
�����������0� #
��
������
��/��������&����
�������
�����&�������
�
 ��������0� /���������
�����
���������0� %�-�����������	���������$�����
���
���������0� �������������
�
��#���
���������

��������
���%�-��������
�����1�
���������0� �������2�����
����������
���������0� 	#���3�������&��������
��
����������',�����������&������
���������)�
 ������0� 	#�
�����'�����������������������
���������)����������'���������������

������������(�������������
�
����������
�����
��)������
��
�����������
��������0� 	���������$��������
�����������������������
����
��������0� 4��$����������	#"�'����
����
����5 6,�)��
��������0� ����������
�����
�����
����0� �������
�����
���
�����������
��
����������
����������
#��
���������0� 4��$��
��
��������
��
������������������������������'7��)��
���8��"����� ��
	�
��������0� 	#��'��������(�����������)�
�����������
��
����������
����������
%�&���������0� #���
��������
�����	���������$������
���%�-��������
�����1�

�

����������Page 19

Page 67



Page 20

This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 68



Page 21

Page 69



Page 22

This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 70



Page 23

Page 71



Page 24

This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 72



���������	��
�����������������������������������
�

� ��������� 	��
������������� ���������������������������
���������		
�	��������������
����	�������������������������
���	����������������	��������	����������������	����
��������
�������		����
�������������		��������������	����������������
� �����������
��������	�!�������������������	�������������	��������
�������
������� ��"������"���������� ��������� �����
����!����������������������������������������������������
���"���"�		������������������
������������������
��
��������
�������		����
�#������������������� ��	����������!�����������
���������
����	�!����������!� 	����!����!�������� ����"�		����������
����	���������$���	�!����

%��&�'��$���	���������	����(����	����������!!��������������
"�		� ������������$��"� �������	��������
�
!��������	)�����	������������!�������� 
���$�)!�������
� ���*�������+�����

�'�������������,���	���	
��!����!���������������������
����	�!��������		�"���"���������� �� ��	�"�����
������������	�����������
����	�����������	�!���������	�����
+*��,����� ���� �		����!(�����!	�
��-��!���������		�����(�
���"�		��������������	��������!����!��������������� ��"�		�
���������������������	�!������������������
��.�/�������
��������,�0�����	���������������	�!������������"��
����������1	�/� �	�
�,�$�����������"����������"�������������
�	�/� �	�
���"�	����������������� 	�����������������0��������
����������
������!�� 	�����������������(��������	�������
���������
������������� ���������������2�����

%'����$��"�		�����������"�����	���	
�"���!�����������
���������������		����"������(��������������	
�����	�!������
3�������������������
�"�������!��������

��� ��������"������
"�		����*�������+���4�

�5����������
�����������������	�
���(���(�.�����6����
�����������������(�����
���������
6����!	�
������)�!����!���(������	���7���	�������
��

%5��8���!���������������"�		� ����������"��������������
���������������������	�!������

��� �����������"������
���"�		����*�������
+���4�

�������� ��	����9����������� ������������������������	��"���
������������!	�
�����������	���	�����������������
��	�"����
������(�"�����������/���� 	���+�����������	����������	:������;�

%�������	���������� ����	����(������/��!	�(���!�������!	���
��������!������.����"��"�		� ��������� ��������
�
����	�!�����������������"�		������������	�!�����������

�

��������
P

age 25

P
age 73



�������
����"������	�����"����������������������������
����	�!����"�������������������	���������������
��������
���-��	�
�������!	��������������������(����
�������!	����
��������)�
��������!�����������������		����"��������������
������
���!���������������������������
�������		����

���������������������������3���������/�������������
����
����!��������������"�����������"��������.���������
����	����������������!��������"���������������� ��	�����
����������"�������!	����������������������!	�����������
������+���������� ������������������������!������	���������	�
!	�������!��3��(������	� �������������������������� ��������
�!�������
��������������!	������������(��������������� �������!	�����
"�������������
�����������������������������

� � ����������!	���������(�!����������� �����		����"��������
������������!!����������
�����������������������������
� �������������*�������+������������ ������	����������
��������
�������		����

%�����$����������
�����"�����������������!�����!�
���!���������"��	����-��������������	�!��������!���
��������������������!�������������������"����������*�������
+����"����!����	������������� �����!�����!	��������	����
�� �	���������������������������������������	�!�����
����!���������������!�����������	��� ����$�������������
"����"���6�		�����<���������������	
������������	���
!	�������!�����������������	���	��������

� � �#����������������������!��������������	
�!������!����
�� �����
��������
� ���������!���	
��������������������������������
!��������������"������"�		�"�����	����������"�����!�������
�������	���������(�"�����"��	����� �� ��	��������!����!��
������	�
����������������	�"���������
�����������������=>�
��������"�����!��!����������������� �	�
�������
����	�!��������"�����"���!��	
����������������������������
������	������������	��������!��!��	
��������"����		�������
	����"����� �����������!����"�����
������������"���
6�		�����������������������������	�"�������������������
�����		�������������������������������?�7�������
��������������!��3��������"��	�������������������"�!���	�
"�����"����������� �������������������!������������
�!!�����:���������������!!�������������������#������"��	��
�������������"���������������������!���������:����������

%#����������!!������������3������ �������������(��������
���������������� ������������������������������������������
���������������������"�		�!��������������������������
���������%		�	����"�����������������=>��������������
*�������+�����

P
age 26

P
age 74



����!�������"����������������"������6�		�����<��!������
���������������������"���"��������������������� �"����
�������� �������������
�������	��������"����������
�
!��!	�������	�"����		����"�������������������!������:�!	�������
��������(����������"������!���� �	�
�����!�����	�����!���(����
����
�������	(����!������������	(����������������"�!���	(����
������	���� ������������������	������	����&��������
�����	���� �������������!��������������������	���������
�����������$���	�!����

� � �'��+�������,����������	����������!�������������
����	�!��������� �����/��!������ 
�������������
��"���������������	�	����,�%�	�����!����������
����	�!���(�"�������		���������!
��%�������	��������
�
����	�����,���������������������� �������&	���(����!�����	���
�����������������@�"���������
���� ������	�!��������
��������*�������+��������� ���������������2�����

%'����$�����"���������� ��������������	�!���	�������"����
�����������������!!��������"�����!���� 	������������������
����	�!�������!!	
����������������������������������A���&����
�"���������������������B�����==C����+*��(�"��������	�����
�����������(�!��������!	�
���������������!����������������
 �����!	������.������=�=��

� � �5��D+�!!��!����E���������	������������
�������������
��!!�����"���	��������������������	���������������		
�
���������������!�
����		
� 
��!!���������
+�������!	���������
�����(��������������!!	
������"��	��
�������������� �����"��� �������������� 	����������
����
��������	� 	���������������
���!	���������!!	
�3������
�������?�7����������!����������!���������������������
����	���������	� 	����8����!�������"��	���������������!	���
!���������!	���)���!������"�������������������������
������	
�����
�������������������
�����	��������������������� �����	���	
�
�����������������������!������������������������	����������
����������������!	����������!����������(���
������������
��������������������
�����������"���!��!	���/!��������
����	�����&���������������������������������(�������������
�7���	�������
��

%5��%������ 	�����������	������"���������������*�������!�����
F��������	
������������������������� ��������	�!������
-����	
����!	��������������������!!������ ����	�������
����������������!�����
+�������!	������������!������.����"��"�		� ��������� ������
��
�����	�!�����������������"�		������������	�!����
����������������������������������3���������/������
�������
��������!��������������"�����������"��������
.�����
������������������������
��������	����������������"������
��
�������	��������	������ ���� ��	������!�����������������		�
�������
� ��	�������

P
age 27

P
age 75



������(�����������
�������	(������
������"����������
�����!�� 	���(�����������������������
�������		�����

%�����$���������������"�������"�������������
�
������	������������������������������������������*�������
!����7�������6���!��

����7��������������������"������
����� ��	������� ����!�
��
����		������"�������	��������������������0�������������
�������������� �������!������������������!�
�������	��/�
��������	�� �������������� �"�����������	�!��������
��$���������	������������������
�������		����

%�����$������"�������"�������������
�$���	�!����
��������������	���&!��������-��!������������������
��
��$����������
�����"�����������������!�����!������
���!���������"��	����-��������������	�!��������!���
��������������������!�����������

�#������	���	�����������������������"������������������
�����������������������	���������	� 	������	����!��/���
���
"�������
�	������$���	�!����

%#������!���������������!�����������	��� ����$�����������
��"����"���6�		�����<���������������	
������������	���
!	�������!�����������������	���	��������

�'��������������������������������A���������"���������	�
�����
(����		�"����!����������������	���	����������������
��������������	�!����"��������� ���������������2�����

%'����$������!�����������"���������� ��������������	�!���
	�������"���������������������!!��������"�����!���� 	������
����������������	�!�������!!	
�����������������������������
�����A���&����"���

� !�� ������!���������
"��	��
���	����������
���*�������+��������
��")"������
�������
	��������������4�

�5��B����������������������������	�!�����(����������!���
��������������	�����	������������ ������	� 	�������������
!���� 	��������
������� ��	�����"���������<�����3���������
���������	�"��������		�����	������������"�		� ��������	������
�������	�������������7���	�������
��

%5����$������!�����������"���������� ��������������	�!���
	�������"���������������������!!��������"�����!���� 	������
����������������	�!�������!!	
�����������������������������
�����A���&����"���
%�!	��������!!	�����������������������	���������� �����
��������������$���� ����==C� 
���$��!	����������������

�"!� ������!�����	��"��
�������������
	�����������	�������
�����������	�!�����
��		��������������
������4�

����.��
(� �����������!�����	��������������!����
����	�!���������������"������� ������������������
�
!��3�����������������������"��	������� ����������������
��������!	��	
��������������������������������+����������;�
�����������������"���!	�������������!������������	���	�
���!����!� (�"�����������!�����������������"������������������
���!	����������� ���������������
�������		����

%��������	���������� ����	����(������/��!	�(���!�������!	���
��������!������.����"��"�		� ��������� ��������
�
����	�!�����������������"�		������������	�!�����������
���������������������������3���������/�������������
����
����!��������������"�����������"��������.���������
����	����������������!��������"���������������� ��	�����
����������"�������!	����������������������!	�����������
������

� � ���������������	
����		
� �������"����*�������+���������		
�
������������������
�������		����

%���G����������

� � �#��$�����!���������!	����������!	������������	������� %#����������!!������������3������ �������������(��������

P
age 28

P
age 76



�������� 	��D�������
�����	�����E��������������� 	����
!���������!������!�����������������"����(������������	
�
��������(�"�		�!����������������������7�������������������
"���������!��������!���������������������������������"�����
��	
����	��"���	��������(������
������������������)���������
�����������"���������	�������������"������������!��������
��������������	��(������/��!	�(�����/����	�������������
 ��	�����(�������		�������������������
��������!���(�"�����
����� ������������ ��������!� 	���������
������������
-��	�
���������7���������������������	�������������������
!���������������-��	�
�������:���
�"�		� ��� 	�������������
 ����3� ������
������������������� 
�������	��������������(�
"�������������	
��!!	���� 
����������	��%��!���!�������!	���
"�����"�		����	�����!��!	��	����������������	������� ��	���������
����
��������������������������������8����������	������ ���
���������� �	�
�����������!	������������� 	����������=>�
���������������	�!������$���	�!����"��	�� ��� 	���������
������	
��������!�������������������
�����	�����������������	�
������������!��������������=>�����
�"����������������
���������� ���!���������������������������!�������
����	�!���������������	�����	��!��������������������=>�
!�
�����������������	
�!�
�������	����������������	�����
������������!�
���������	���������������		�����	�!�����
�$���	�!����

���������������� ������������������������������������������
���������������������"�		�!��������������������������
������������������� �	�
���� �����������	���	
�����������:�
���	
��������
�!���������"�		����������� ����!�����
�����
��=>�����������"�		� ������������	���	
��
�

� � �'������������������!�������!������������	���������
!����������������� ��������(�������!	������������������
"������"�		�����������������������"��������������
������������������������������������	�!������������
�
��!�����!!����������� ��������������������!����	������(�
 �������	�� ������������!��������������	���������������
+��������!�"�����������������
������ ���������������2�����

%'����$�����	�������������	�!����H��	�
��������!�����!	������
����DG�"���������������!����������	���E�"�����"�		�������
!������������	���������		���!���������"�������������

� � �5��G���������� %5��G����������

P
age 29

P
age 77



���7����	���������������������
���������!����(���������
�
�/�������������"�������!��������������������������
��������
�������		����

%�����$������!��������������������!	������!	����"����������
����� ����������!���������!� 	���������!���������!����
���������������*�������+�����

�����������*�������!����������������
����!�������������������
"�������/��!����"��"�		���		�������������� �����"�����
�������"�������	��������
������������"���������������
!	����"����!��!	��"�����	�������������
�������		����

�

#��%������
������������ 
�8�������		�����������	�����!������
8������!!��	������������	�����!������������������������
!��������������������������������������������!������� �
���
����������� �� ����������!������� �
��"�������
���������	
�!	�������$���	�!����

%#��$�����������������������������	�!�����"�		�	������
���������������!!��!�����!�����������������������!�����
!	�����.����"�������!	������������!������	���������	�
!	�����������������������������"���������������������
����!����
�

'����������������������������"��	���*�������+������� �����
���	���������������!�������	������������������"����"������
"������*+����������"��	�� ��"�		�����������������
�/!���������"������������	�!����������������(�����	!����
���������������������!�������������(���������
�����������
!������ 	��!�� 	����������	!�����������������!�"������
��������������������������@4����� ���������������2�����

%'�������������
�$���	�!����"��������*�������+�������
����	������������������/!���������������������/��!	�(�
�����������7�����1���(���G��������!	��������������*�������
+������	��������������������������������������
�������	��

��� $��
����������
�
���������������
���������������
*�������+���4�

�5������������	�������������	���	������������ �� 	�������
"���������������	���������+��������������������������
"��	������������������ �	�
�"���!�������������������
��!�������!���	������	���	��������	����
���������	��������� ��������������	���������������������
�������	�!������������������������
���������������������������"�����������������7���	�������
��

%5������	�������������	���	���������
����������!���������
�������	������������	����
���"���������"�
���������"�		�
������� ������	���������"����� ����3�����A���<���������
?���������	������������������	�"����������"����������
�
������	���
����������	�������������������"�		� ���� 3������������
!	�������!������������	�����������%�'��������"�����������
���%�'��

�

P
age 30

P
age 78



   
REPORT TO: Scrutiny and Overview Committee  3 July 2014 
LEAD OFFICER: Alex Colyer, Executive Director (Corporate Services)  

 
 

WORK PROGRAMME 2014 
 

Purpose 
 
1. To provide the Scrutiny and Overview Committee with an opportunity to plan its work 

programme for future meetings. 
 
Recommendations 

 
2. It is recommended that the draft Work Programme attached at Appendix A of this 

report be approved, subject to any amendments put forward at the meeting. 
 

Background 
 
3. The latest version of the Committee’s work programme is attached at Appendix A. It 

has been developed in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, taking 
into account any changes agreed at the previous meeting of the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee. 
 

4. The Customer Contact Centre scoping document is attached at Appendix B. 
 

5. The Scrutiny Prioritisation Tool is attached at Appendix C. 
 

Considerations 
 

The four principles of effective scrutiny 
 
6. The Centre for Public Scrutiny works towards four principles of effective scrutiny, 

these being: 
 

• to provide ‘critical friend’ challenge to executive policy-makers and decision-
makers; 

• to enable the voice and concerns of the public and its communities; 
• that scrutiny be carried out by ‘independent minded governors’ who lead and own 

the scrutiny process; 
• to drive improvement in public services. 

 
7. Members are asked to give due consideration to these principles when carrying out 

their role on the Scrutiny and Overview Committee. 
 
 Work Programming 
 
8. A number of items were put forward at the Scrutiny training session held in January 

2014, for potential consideration at future meetings of the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee.   

Agenda Item 8

Page 79



 
9. Using the work programme prioritisation tool, as attached in Appendix C, these items 

were categorised to ascertain their priority from the Scrutiny and Overview 
Committee’s perspective. The results of this exercise were as follows:  
 
High Priority 
(include in work programme) 

Low Priority 
(consider including in work programme) 
 

Customer Contact Centre Organisational Development Strategy 
 

Economic Development Service 
 

South Cambs Ltd 
Planning Performance 
 

 
 
10. Members considered the Economic Development Service, and felt that this should be 

revisited later in the year after the Conservation Service Review had been undertaken 
and resulting changes implemented.   

 
11. Members are encouraged to suggest items or topics for potential consideration at 

future meetings, which will be assessed using the criteria set out in the prioritisation 
tool. 

 
12. Further items to consider at future meetings may be identified from the Council’s 

Corporate Forward Plan, which is attached as Appendix D.  Bold text in this 
document denotes either a new item added or a change in date from a previously 
published Plan. 

 
Implications 
 

13. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, there are no significant implications. 

 
Consultation responses (including from the Youth Council) 

 
14. No consultation has taken place on the content of this report. 

 
15. Consultation with children and young people on the work of the Scrutiny and 

Overview Committee predominantly takes place through the South Cambridgeshire 
Youth Council.  Members of the Youth Council have been invited to attend meetings 
of the Scrutiny and Overview Committee and a regular update item on the work of the 
Youth Council features on agendas on an alternative meetings basis. 

 
Effect on Strategic Aims 

 
We will listen to and engage with residents, parishes and businesses to ensure 
we deliver first class services and value for money 
 

16. The Scrutiny and Overview Committee will contribute to this strategic aim as it 
challenges decision takers and holds them to account as part of its deliberations. 

 
Report Author: Graham Watts – Democratic Services Team Leader 
Telephone: (01954) 713030 

Page 80



Appendix A 
 
 

DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 2014 
 
 
Thursday 4 September 2014 
 
- Conservation Service Review  

 
- Position Statement on Finance, Performance and Risk 2014-15 Q1 

 
- Customer Contact Centre Review 

 
 
Thursday 6 November 2014 
 
- Position Statement on Finance, Performance and Risk 2014-15 Q2 

 
- Review of Corporate Plan 

 
 
Items for potential future scrutiny: 
 
- Economic Development Service – the Committee felt that this should be revisited later in 

the year after the Conservation Service Review has been undertaken and resulting 
changes implemented.   

 
- Organisational Development Strategy – a small group of Members discussed this with 

the Human Resources Manager who agreed to circulate the Strategy’s action plan prior 
to the Strategy being considered by the Portfolio Holder. 

 
- Planning Performance – the Committee proposed to look at the following areas: 

 
•  Planning performance data 
•  Planning appeals – to include how many decisions are appealed when the 

Committee has gone against an officer decision 
•  The planning portal of the website 

 
- Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 
- City Deal Governance 

 
- South Cambs Ltd 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



Page 82

This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix B  
Scrutiny and Overview Committee Scoping 

 
Proposed item for scrutiny: 
 
Customer Contact Centre performance 
 
Service area and relevant Portfolio Holder: 
 
Service area – Corporate and Business Services 
Portfolio Holder – Councillor David Whiteman-Downes (Corporate and Customer Services) 
 
Officer support required: 
 
Potential officers to support the committee in considering this item could include:  
Alex Colyer (Executive Director, Corporate Services), Dawn Graham (Benefits Manager) and 
Rachel Fox-Jackson (Customer Contact Manager). 
 
Rationale: 
 
The annual review of the Customer Contact Centre was considered by the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee on 16 January 2014, which looked into the Contact Centre’s 
performance for its first year of operation since returning to South Cambridgeshire Hall as an 
in-house service.  The following areas were highlighted where performance could potentially 
be improved: 
 

- the rate of calls not answered (call abandonment rate); 
- sickness absence levels within the Contact Centre; 
- recruitment. 

 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee agreed that the Contact Centre would be reviewed 
again in six months (September 2014). 
 
Purpose/objective of scrutiny involvement: 
 
The Scrutiny and Overview Committee highlighted the above issues as areas where 
performance could potentially be improved.  As part of the six-month review in September 
2014 the Scrutiny and Overview Committee could address these areas by looking into: 
 

- specific performance indicators for call abandonment rates and investigate why they 
are relatively higher than they should be; 

- the rate of sickness absence within the Call Centre and how it compares to the rest 
of the Council or other comparable Contact Centres in the country; 

- whether there are any difficulties in recruiting to the Customer Contact Centre and 
explore the impact of Contact Centre staff being recruited by other internal service 
areas; 

- feedback from customers; 
- good practice from other performance indicators exceeding their targets. 

Page 83



 
A small group of Scrutiny and Overview Members met on 5 March and indicated that they 
would also like to investigate: 
 

- the cost of recruitment into the Contact Centre; 
- recruitment plans for the next 12 months and actual costs alongside anticipated 

costs; 
- the savings made as a result of other service areas not having to employ temporary 

staff or externally advertising to fill vacancies; 
- whether the required staffing level for the Contact Centre was initially 

underestimated; 
- the percentage of calls received that are not Council related; 
- other savings made as a result of the Contact Centre being in place. 

 
Methodology/approach: 
 
Types of enquiry by the full committee or individual Members could include: 
 

- desk-based review of papers; 
- site visits; 
- comparisons with other authorities; 
- process mapping; 
- calling the Portfolio Holder, officers, ‘witnesses’ or experts to give evidence. 

 
 

Page 84



Appendix C 
Scrutiny Work Programme Prioritisation Tool 

 
   
 

YES 
  
 
YES 

    
 

 
YES 

 
 

 
YES 

 
 
 
 NO 

 
 

YES 
 
 
 

YES 
 
  
 YES  
 

Does the issue have a potential 
impact on one or more electoral 

wards in South Cambs? 

Is the issue strategic and 
significant? 

Will scrutiny of the issue add 
value to the Council’s overall 

performance? 

Is it likely to lead to effective 
outcomes? 

Will this scrutiny activity duplicate 
any other work? 

Is the issue of community 
concern? 

Are there adequate resources 
available to support scrutiny 

activity on the issue? 

Is the scrutiny activity timely? 

 
HIGH PRIORITY  

Include in Work Programme 

 
Low Priority 

Consider including in 
Work Programme 

 

 
Leave Out 

NO 

NO 

NO 

NO 

YES 

NO 

NO 

NO 

Page 85



Page 86

This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix D 
 

  
NOTICE OF KEY DECISIONS 
 
To be taken under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 effective from 18 June 2014 
 
 
Notice is hereby given of: 
 
Key decisions that will be taken by Cabinet, individual Portfolio Holders or Officers 
Confidential or exempt executive decisions that will be taken in a meeting from which the public will be excluded (for whole or part) 
 
A Key Decision is a decision, which is likely: 
 
(1) (a) to result in the authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the 
service or function to which the decision relates; or 
 
to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards 
 
(2) In determining the meaning of `significant’ for the purposes of the above, the Council must have regard to any guidance for the time being issued 
by the Secretary of State in accordance with section 9Q of the 2000 Act (guidance). 
 
A notice / agenda, together with reports and supporting documents for each meeting will be published at least five working days before the date of the 
meeting.  In order to enquire about the availability of documents and subject to any restriction on their disclosure, copies may be requested from 
Democratic Services, South Cambridgeshire District Council, South Cambridgeshire Hall, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 
6EA. Agenda and documents may be accessed electronically at www.scambs.gov.uk 
 
Formal notice is hereby given under the above Regulations that, where indicated (in column 4), part of the meetings listed in this notice may be held in 
private because the agenda and reports for the meeting will contain confidential or exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing it. See overleaf for the relevant paragraphs. 
 
 
If you have any queries relating to this Notice, please contact 
Maggie Jennings on 01954 713029 or by e-mailing Maggie.Jennings@scambs.gov.uk 
 
 

P
age 87



Appendix D 
 

 
 
Paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 
(Reason for a report to be considered in private) 
 
Information relating to any individual 
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority 
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings 
Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 
to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
to make an Order or Direction under any enactment 
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 
 
 
 
The Decision Makers referred to in this document are as follows: 
 
Cabinet  
 
Councillor Ray Manning 
Councillor Simon Edwards 
Councillor Pippa Corney 
Councillor Mark Howell 
Councillor Mick Martin 
Councillor David Whiteman-Downes 

Leader of the Council 
Deputy Leader and Finance and Staffing 
Planning Policy and Localism 
Housing 
Environmental Services 
Corporate and Customer Services 

Councillor Tim Wotherspoon 
Councillor Nick Wright 

Northstowe 
Planning and Economic Development 
 

 

P
age 88



Appendix D 
 

Key and non-key decisions effective from 18 June 2014 
Decision to be made Decision Maker Date of Meeting Reason for Report to 

be considered in 
Private 
 

Portfolio Holder and 
Contact Officer 

Documents submitted 
to the decision maker 
 

 
Local Transport Plan: 
Response to 
consultation 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Strategic Planning 
and Transportation 
Portfolio Holder 
 

 
In month June/July 
2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Strategic Planning 
and Transportation 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Claire Spencer, 
Senior Planning 
Officer (Transport 
Policy) 
 

 
Decision notice 
 

 
Long Term Transport 
Strategy: Response 
to consultation 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Strategic Planning 
and Transportation 
Portfolio Holder 
 

 
In month June/July 
2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Strategic Planning 
and Transportation 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Claire Spencer, 
Senior Planning 
Officer (Transport 
Policy) 
 

 
Decision notice 
 

 
Cross-border Waste 
Collection: Service 
Level Agreement with 
Cambridge City 
Council 
 
Key 

 
Environmental 
Services Portfolio 
Holder 
 
 

 
In month of July 2014 
(TBA) 
 

 
 
 

 
Environmental 
Services Portfolio 
Holder 
 
Paul Quigley, Head of 
Environment 
Commissioning 

 
Report (publication 
expected in July 
2014) 
 

P
age 89



Appendix D 
 

  
 
Grant-aided Activity 
Update 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Leader's Portfolio 
Meeting 
 

 
In month of July 2014 
(TBA) 
 

 
 
 

 
Leader of Council 
 
Clare Gibbons, 
Development Officer 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected in July 
2014) 
 

 
Joint Procurement of 
a Cambridgeshire 
Handy Person 
Scheme 
 
Key 
 

 
Environmental 
Services Portfolio 
Holder 
 

 
In month of July 2014 
(TBA) 
 

 
 
 

 
Environmental 
Services Portfolio 
Holder 
 
Iain Green, 
Environmental Health 
Officer (Public Health 
Specialist) 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected in July 
2014) 
 

 
Health and Well-being 
Strategy 
 
Key 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Environmental 
Services Portfolio 
Holder 
 
Gemma Barron, 
Partnerships Manager 
& Interim Sustainable 
Communities Team 
Leader, Iain Green, 
Environmental Health 
Officer (Public Health 
Specialist) 
 

 
Report and Strategy 
with recommendation 
to Council (publication 
expected 2 July 2014) 
 

 
Children and Young 
People's Plan 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Environmental 
Services Portfolio 

 
Report and Plan 
(publication expected 

P
age 90



Appendix D 
 

 
Key 
 

Holder 
 
Gemma Barron, 
Partnerships Manager 
& Interim Sustainable 
Communities Team 
Leader 
 

2 July 2014) 
 

 
Ageing Well Strategy 
 
Key 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Environmental 
Services Portfolio 
Holder 
 
Gemma Barron, 
Partnerships Manager 
& Interim Sustainable 
Communities Team 
Leader, Iain Green, 
Environmental Health 
Officer (Public Health 
Specialist) 
 

 
Report and Strategy 
(publication expected 
2 July 2014) 
 

 
Cambridge City & 
South Cambs Joint 
Waste Working: 
Outline Business 
Case 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Environmental 
Services Portfolio 
Holder 
 
Mike Hill, Health and 
Environmental 
Services Director 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected 2 July 2014) 
 

 
Position Statement: 
Finance, Performance 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Corporate and 
Customer Services 

 
Report: Quarter 4 
(publication expected 

P
age 91



Appendix D 
 

and Risk 2013/14 
 
Non-Key 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 
John Garnham, Head 
of Finance, Policy & 
Performance, Richard 
May, Policy and 
Performance 
Manager 
Graham Smith, 
Management 
Accountant 
 

2 July 2014) 

 
Shared Services 
 
Key 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Leader of Council 
 
Alex Colyer, 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Services 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected 2 July 2014) 
 

 
Shared Service: 
Building Control 
 
Key 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Planning Portfolio 
Holder 
 
Jo Mills, Planning and 
New Communities 
Director 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected 2 July 2014) 
 

 
Northstowe: 
Investment and 
Delivery 
 
Key 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Strategic Planning & 
Transportation 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Jo Mills, Planning and 
New Communities 

 
Report (publication 
expected 2 July 2014) 
 

P
age 92



Appendix D 
 

Director 
 

 
Subscription to the 
Local Government 
Association Bonds 
Agency 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Alex Colyer, 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Services 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected 2 July 2014) 
 

 
South Cambs Ltd - 
Business Case 
Update 
 
Key 
 

 
Cabinet 
 

 
10 July 2014 
 

 
The report is likely to 
contain information 
relating to the 
financial or business 
affairs of any 
particular person 
(including the 
authority holding 
information) 
 

 
Housing Portfolio 
Holder 
 
Stephen Hills, 
Affordable Homes 
Director 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected 2 July 2014) 
 

 
Treasury 
Management 
Quarterly Investment 
Review 2014/15 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
 

 
15 July 2014 
 
  
21 October 2014 
 
 
 
21 April 2015 

 
 
 

 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Alex Colyer, 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Services, 
John Garnham, Head 
of Finance, Policy & 
Performance, Sally 
Smart, Principal 
Accountant Financial 
& Systems 

 
Report (publication 
expected 7 July 2014) 
 
Report (publication 
expected 13 October 
2014) 
 
Report (publication 
expected 13 April 
2015) 
 

P
age 93



Appendix D 
 

 
 
Write-Offs 2014/15 
 
Key 
 

 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 

 
15 July 2014 
 
 
21 October 2014 
 
 
 
20 January 2015 
 
 
 
22 April 2015 
 

 
 

 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Katie Brown, 
Revenues Manager 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected 7 July 2014) 
 
Report (publication 
expected 13 October 
2014) 
 
Report (publication 
expected 12 January 
2015) 
 
Report (publication 
expected 14 April 
2015) 

 
Localised Council Tax 
Support Scheme 
2014/15 
 
Key 
 

 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Cabinet 
 
 
 
Council 
 

 
15 July 2014 
 
 
11 September 2014 
 
 
 
29 January 2015 
 

 
 
 

 
Finance and Staffing 
Portfolio Holder 
 
Alex Colyer, 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Services, 
Dawn Graham, 
Benefits Manager 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected 7 July 2014) 
 
Report (publication 
expected 3 
September 2014) 
 
Report (publication 
expected 21 January 
2015) 
 

 
Appointment to the 
Independent 
Remuneration Panel 
 
Non-Key 

 
Council 
 

 
24 July 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Leader of Council 
 
Maggie Jennings, 
Democratic Services 
Officer 

 
Report (publication 
expected 16 July 
2014) 
 

P
age 94



Appendix D 
 

  
 
Position Statement: 
Finance, Performance 
and Risk 2014/15 
 
Non-Key 
 

 
Cabinet 
 
 
 
 
Cabinet 
 
 
 
 
Cabinet 
 

 
11 September 2014 
 
 
 
 
13 November 2014 
 
 
 
 
12 February 2015 
 

 
 
 

 
Corporate and 
Customer Services 
Portfolio Holder 
 
John Garnham, Head 
of Finance, Policy & 
Performance, Richard 
May, Policy and 
Performance 
Manager, Graham 
Smith, Management 
Accountant 
 

 
Q1 Report and 
appendices 
(publication expected 
3 September 2014) 
 
Q2 Report and 
appendices 
(publication expected 
5 November 2014) 
 
Q3 Report and 
appendices 
(publication expected 
4 February 2015) 
 

 
City Deal: 
Governance 
Arrangements 
 
Key 
 

 
Council 
 

 
27 November 2014 
 

 
 
 

 
Leader of Council 
 
Alex Colyer, 
Executive Director, 
Corporate Services 
 

 
Report (publication 
expected 19 
November 2014) 
 

 
 
 

P
age 95



P
age 96

T
his page is left blank intentionally.



Updated: 5 June 2014 

Cabinet Members and Responsibilities 2014-15 
 
 
 
 
 

Description and / or 
Portfolio 

Member Services Covered Lead Member for Cross 
Cutting Themes and / or 
Corporate Priorities 

Lead 
Officer 

 
Leader Ray Manning Lead on Strategic Policy, Partnerships, Grants Co-ordination and 

Delivery, Tackling the effects of Climate Change 
 

 Mike Hill 

Deputy Leader 
Finance and Staffing 
 

Simon Edwards Finance, Staffing, Revenues and Benefits 
 

Welfare Reform Alex 
Colyer 

Corporate and 
Customer Services 

David 
Whiteman-
Downes 

Corporate Services (including Information and Communications 
Technology [ICT], Customer Service, Risk, Procurement, Value 
for Money [VfM] / Performance), Communications 
 

Member Development Alex 
Colyer 

Economic 
Development 

Nick Wright 
 
 

Economic Development, the Local Enterprise Partnership, 
Business Support 
 

Broadband delivery Jo Mills 

Environmental 
Services 

Mick Martin Environmental Health and Services, Waste and Recycling, Public 
Health, Private Sector Housing, Land Drainage, Licensing 

Health 
Enforcement, 
Older People 
 

Mike Hill 

Housing  Mark Howell Housing Strategy, Housing Advice and Options, Home 
Improvement Grants, Housing Landlord services  

Equality & Diversity Alex 
Colyer, 
Stephen 
Hills 
 

Planning Pippa Corney Development Control, Design and Conservation, Building 
Control, Planning Policy, Planning, Liaison with Parishes, 
Community Groups / Voluntary Sector, Sport 
 

Children and Young People Mike Hill, 
Jo Mills 

Strategic Planning 
and Transportation 

Tim 
Wotherspoon 

Strategic Transport, Community Transport, Development of new 
and existing Communities, Northstowe 

 Jo Mills 

 

A
genda Item

 9

P
age 97



P
age 98

T
his page is left blank intentionally.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 2013-2014 Year End Position Statement on Finance and Performance
	Appendix A Provisional Outturn 2013-14
	Appendix B Significant items of movement
	Appendix C Requested budget rollovers to 2014-15
	Appendix D Corporate Plan 1314 Year-End performance
	Appendix E Key performance indicators 2013-14

	7 Orchard Park - review of achievements and lessons learned
	Orchard Park - app 1 Action Plan
	Orchard Park - app 2 Timeline
	Orchard Park - app 3 map
	Orchard Park - app 4 map
	Orchard Park - app 5 responses

	8 Work Programme 2014/15
	Work Programme App A
	AppB Scoping Customer Contact Centre
	App C Priorisation tool
	App D Corp Forward Plan

	9 Appointment of Scrutiny Monitors and Monitoring the Executive

